Role of RNA Binding Protein HuR in antagonizing the microRNA-mediated Repression

Inauguraldissertation

zur Erlangung der Würde eines Doktors der Philosophie vorgelegt der Philosophisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Universität Basel

> von Pradipta Kundu aus Kolkata, INDIA

> > Basel, 2011

Genehmigt von der Philosophisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät auf Antrag von

Prof. Dr. Witold Filipowicz und Prof. Dr. Oliver Muehlemann (Referent) (Koreferent)

Basel, den 18th October, 2011

Prof. Dr. Martin Spiess (Dekan)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisor Prof. Witold Filipowicz for giving me the opportunity to perform this work under his guidance. I express my gratitude for all his support, inspiration and mentoring. His thoughtful advice helped me to gain critical insight about science. His enthusiasm and passion for work is something I have tried my best to emulate - I hope it will always remain with me in my way of life.

I wish to thank my thesis committee members, Dr. Helge Grosshans and Dr. Rafal Ciosk for their encouragement and support during our meetings as well as outside them.

I also thank Dr. Oliver Muehlemann for being the co-referee of this thesis, for his advice and support.

My heartfelt gratitude goes to Dr. Suvendra Bhattacharyya for all his ideas, discussions and visits that created the framework of the project. It has been a wonderful experience to visit his lab in Kolkata for doing some experiments. His support contributed immensely in the early days of this study.

Special thanks go also to Caroline Artus-Revel, Regula Dueggeli, Dr. Marc Fabian and Tabea Hugenschmidt. They have contributed to some of the important experiments.

I wish also to thank our collaborators, Prof. Nahum Sonenberg, Dr. Ellen I. Closs and Dr. Nicole-Claudia Meisner-Kober for sharing reagents and ideas.

I wish to thank all the former and present members of the Filipowicz group. It has been an extremely learning and fascinating experience to work in the multicultural environment in our lab during the past 5 years. This enriched me as a human being and a scholar of science.

I am grateful to my parents for their continuous support in every step of my life, for allowing me to pursue my PhD study abroad. Thank you Ma and Baba.

Above all, the person who has been the pillar of emotional and mental strength for me in these long five years, my husband, Soumendra, thank you for being whenever I needed you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	4
ABBREVIATIONS	7
1 SUMMARY	8
2 INTRODUCTION	9
2.1 miRNAs – a general overview	9
2.1.1 Discovery	9
2.1.2 Biogenesis – a multistep process	9
2.1.3 Target recognition and function	11
2.2 Silencing by RNAi – an overview	12
2.3 The effector phase of RNA silencing	13
2.3.1 RISC – RNA induced silencing complex	13
2.3.2 RISC assembly	13
2.3.3 Argonautes	14
2.3.4 Target RNA cleavage by RISC	15
2.4 Effects of miRNAs on translation	16
2.4.1 Repression at post-initiation stage	16
2.4.2 Repression at the initiation stage	16
2.4.3 Translational activation	17
2.5 Target destabilization by miRNAs	18
2.6 Role of P-bodies in miRNA silencing	19
2.7 HuR – regulatory RBP with many functions	19
2.7.1 Functional studies on HuR	20
2.7.2 Structure of HuR	21
2.7.3 Nucleocytoplasmic shuttling and regulation through modification	22
2.7.4 Role of HuR in the relief of miRNA-mediated repression	24
3 BACKGROUND and OBJECTIVES	26
4 RESULTS	28
4.1 PART-I Uncoupling of miRNA-mediated repression from stress	28
4.1.1 Effect of cytoplasmic accumulation of HuR mutants	28
4.1.2 Cytoplasmic accumulation of HuR in a cancer cell line attenuated	
miRNA-mediated repression	33

4.1.3 Treatment of cells with an inhibitor of HuR prevented its activity in the	
relief of miRNA repression	36
4.2 PART II Charatcterization of HuR and miRISC interplay with target RNA	. 38
4.2.1 HuR does not inhibit miRISC by interacting with its component proteins	38
4.2.1.1 Endogenous HuR does not interact with miRISC proteins	38
4.2.1.2 Cytoplasmic mutant HuR∆H does not interact with Ago2	39
4.2.2 Interaction of HuR and miRNPs with target mRNA is mutually exclusive	40
4.2.3 HuR does not antagonize repression induced by Ago tethering to mRN/	442
4.3 PART III - HuR inhibits RNAi-induced gene silencing in mammalian cell	s 44
4.3.1 Antagonizing of let-7 mediated RNAi	44
4.3.2 HuR antagonizes activity of exogenous siRNA	46
4.4 PART IV - Recombinant HuR antagonize effect of miRISC in vitro	48
4.4.1 Effect of HuR proteins on endonucleolytic cleavage of RNA by miRISC	48
4.4.1.1 Purified miRISC specifically cleaves its target RNA	48
4.4.1.2 Binding of recombinant HuR specifically inhibits endonucleolytic cleavage	ge
of RNA	49
4.4.2 HuR oligomerization mutants are defective in attenuating miRISC	
cleavage	51
4.4.3 Activity of HuR and its mutants in alleviation of miRNA-mediated	
deadenylation	54
4.4.4 HuR can displace miRISC from the target RNA	56
4.4.4.1 miRISC is displaced from target RNA with site perfectly complementary	
to miRNA	56
4.4.4.2 HuR effectively displaces miRISC from target RNAs bearing bulged	
miRNA site	59
5 DISCUSSION	61
6 MATERIALS AND METHODS	68
6.1 Plasmids	68
6.2 Cell Culture-based assays	69
6.2.1 Cell culture	69
6.2.2 Transfection	69
6.2.3 Stress Induction	70
6.2.4 Luciferase assay	71
6.3 Immunoflurescence analysis	71

6.4 Cellular fractionation	71
6.5 Western analysis	72
6.6 Analysis by Immunoprecipitation and RT- PCR	73
6.7 RNA synthesis and labeling for cleavage assay and EMSA	74
6.7.1 Generation of templates for in vitro transcription	74
6.7.2 In vitro transcription	75
6.7.3 5'-end labeling	76
6.8 Annealing of DNA oligonucleotide to labeled RNA	76
6.9 Purification of miRISC	76
6.10 Purification of His ₆ -HuR fusion proteins	77
6.10.1 Growth of bacterial culture and induction	77
6.10.2 Lysis of cells	77
6.10.3 Protein purification	77
6.11 Target RNA cleavage assay	78
6.11.1 Determination of active miRISC concentration	78
6.11.2 Quantification of data	79
6.12 RNA deadenylation assay	79
6.13 Electrophoretic mobility shift assays (EMSA)	80
6.14 Analysis of miRISC association with target RNA	80
7 APPENDICES	82
8 REFERENCES	85
9 CURRICULUM VITAE	104

ABBREVIATIONS

Ab	antibody
ARD	adenine/ uridine rich region D
ARE	adenine/uridine rich element
CAT1	cationic amino acid transporter 1
CRM1	chromosomal region maintenance protein 1
dsRBD	double-stranded RNA binding domain
HNS	HuR nucleocytoplasmic shuttling
IRES	internal ribosomal entry site
miRNA	microRNA
miRISC	miRNA-induced silencing complex
miRNP	micro-ribonucleoprotein
nt	nucleotides
m	nucleollues
NES	nuclear export signal
NES NLS	nuclear export signal nuclear localization signal
NES NLS RBD	nuclear export signal nuclear localization signal RNA binding domain
NES NLS RBD RBP	nuclear export signal nuclear localization signal RNA binding domain RNA binding protein
NES NLS RBD RBP RISC	nuclear export signal nuclear localization signal RNA binding domain RNA binding protein RNA-induced silencing complex
NES NLS RBD RBP RISC RL	nuclear export signal nuclear localization signal RNA binding domain RNA binding protein RNA-induced silencing complex Renilla luciferase
NES NLS RBD RBP RISC RL RNAi	nuclear export signal nuclear localization signal RNA binding domain RNA binding protein RNA-induced silencing complex Renilla luciferase RNA interference
NES NLS RBD RBP RISC RL RNAi siRNA	nuclear export signal nuclear localization signal RNA binding domain RNA binding protein RNA-induced silencing complex Renilla luciferase RNA interference short interfering RNA
NES NLS RBD RBP RISC RL RNAi siRNA Trn	nuclear export signal nuclear localization signal RNA binding domain RNA binding protein RNA-induced silencing complex Renilla luciferase RNA interference short interfering RNA transportin

Less frequently used abbreviations are defined upon their first use in the text.

1 SUMMARY

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are ~21-nt-long non-coding RNAs regulating gene expression in eukaryotes. In metazoa, miRNAs control gene expression by base-pairing to target mRNAs, bringing about their translational repression and/or deadenylation resulting in mRNA degradation. MiRNA-mediated translational repression is a reversible process in mammalian cells. It was previously demonstrated that target mRNAs containing AU-rich regulatory elements (AREs) in the 3'UTR, can be relieved from miRNA repression in human hepatoma Huh7 or HeLa cells in response to different forms of cellular stress. The derepression required binding of the ELAV family protein HuR to the mRNA 3'UTR (Bhattacharyya et al., Cell 125, 111-1124, 2006). However, whether stress-induced factors other than HuR participate in the process and the actual mechanism of HuR action remain unknown.

In the present study, we have addressed these questions, using different cell-based and *in vitro* assays. Using mutants of HuR accumulating in the cytoplasm in the absence of stress and tumor cell lines constitutively accumulating endogenous HuR in the cytoplasm, we were able to uncouple the HuR effect on miRNA repression from stress. We also found that Ago2 and HuR do not interact with each other and that their binding to target mRNA appears to be largely mutually exclusive. Using an *in vitro* system with purified miRISC and recombinant HuR and its mutants, we demonstrate that HuR, by oligomerizing along RNA, leads to displacement of miRISC from RNA, even when miRISC is positioned at a distance from the primary HuR-binding site. Further, we show that HuR association with AREs can inhibit RISC-mediated endonucleolytic cleavage of target RNAs both *in vivo* and *in vitro*, and also miRNA-mediated deadenylation of RNA in the Krebs-2 ascites extract.

2 INTRODUCTION

The life of an mRNA transcript, from its genesis in the nucleus to its decay in the cytoplasm, is comprised of a highly ordered sequence of events, regulated at multiple levels primarily by its dynamic interactions with numerous RNA binding proteins (RBPs). However, it is the other form of mRNA expression regulatory network, mediated by microRNAs, that has revolutionized our understanding of gene expression over past 12 years.

2.1 miRNAs – a general overview

2.1.1 Discovery

MiRNAs are a large class of non-coding genomically encoded short (~21-24 nt long) RNAs that regulate gene expression in many eukaryotes. The first miRNA, lin-4 was discovered in *Caenorhabditis elegans* simultaneously in the laboratories of Victor Ambros and Gary Ruvkun in an attempt to characterize genes that control the timing of larval development (Lee et al, 1993; Wightman et al, 1993). However, the focus on this class of RNA was renewed only seven years later, after identification of the second miRNA, let-7, also by the forward genetic screen in C. elegans (Reinhart et al, 2000), and its highly conserved orthologues in diverse animal species including humans (Pasquinelli et al, 2000). Soon thereafter, bioinformatic predictions together with cloning and subsequent sequencing approaches revealed many additional miRNAs to be present in worms, flies and mammals (Bentwich et al, 2005; Lagos-Quintana et al, 2001; Lau et al, 2001; Lee & Ambros, 2001).

2.1.2 Biogenesis – a multistep process

Biogenesis of miRNAs in mammals consists of several sequential steps (reviewed by Kim, 2005; Kim et al, 2009b) (Fig. A). In general, miRNAs are transcribed by RNA polymerase II as long primary transcripts (pri-miRNAs) (Lee et al, 2004). The majority of miRNAs is transcribed from independent genes whereas some are present in introns of protein-coding genes (Rodriguez et al, 2004). Resembling the protein-coding transcripts, the pri-

miRNAs transcribed from independent genes contain 5'-cap structures, 3'polyA tails and may also contain introns (Cai et al, 2004). Pri-miRNAs contain about 60-80 nt stem-loop structures. Their arms harbour the future mature miRNAs.





In the first step of pri-miRNA processing, the microprocessor complex that includes the RNase III endonuclease Drosha (Lee et al, 2003) and its binding partner DGCR8 (DiGeorge syndrome critical region 8), liberates the hairpin precursor miRNA (pre-miRNA) from pri-miRNAs in the nucleus (Denli et al, 2004; Han et al, 2004; Han et al, 2006). In the subsequent step, the pre-miRNAs are transported from the nucleus into the cytoplasm by Exportin-5, in

a Ran-GTP-dependent manner (Bohnsack et al, 2004; Lund et al, 2004; Yi et al, 2003).

Following export to the cytoplasm, pre-miRNAs are further processed by another RNase III endonuclease, Dicer. Removal of the terminal loop generates a ~22-23 nt miRNA duplex with 2 nt single-stranded 3' overhangs at both ends (Bernstein et al, 2001; Hutvagner et al, 2001). During the process, the mammalian Dicer works in association with dsRBD protein partner, TRBP (TAR RNA binding protein) (Chendrimada et al, 2005; Haase et al, 2005). However, recent three independent studies revealed also a Dicerindependent processing of at least one miRNA, miR-451 (Cheloufi et al, 2010; Cifuentes et al, 2010; Yang et al, 2010).

Following dicing, one strand of the miRNA/miRNA* duplex, representing mature miRNA, is selectively incorporated into a muticomponent complex referred to as miRNA-induced silencing complex (miRISC or miRNP).

2.1.3 Target recognition and function

In metazoa, miRNAs regulate gene expression by base-pairing to target mRNAs and inhibit protein synthesis by repressing translation and/or bringing about deadenylation which leads to mRNA degradation. Most investigated miRNAs base-pair imperfectly with sequences in mRNA 3'-untranslated regions (3'UTRs), with perfect complementarity to positions 2 to 8 of the miRNA, referred to as a seed sequence, being the most important for association with mRNA (Brennecke et al, 2005; reviewed in Bartel, 2009). However, some miRNAs base-pair to mRNA with perfect or nearly perfect complementarity and induce endonycleolytic cleavage of mRNA by the RNA interference (RNAi) mechanism, similar to that mediated by short interfering RNAs (siRNAs).

In mammals, hundreds of different miRNAs are expressed (according to the latest miRBase Version 17, the number of human miRNAs is 1733) and they are predicted to control the activity of ~50% of all genes. Thus, it is not surprising that miRNAs regulate most of the investigated developmental and cellular processes and their altered expression is observed in many human

pathologies, including cancer (reviewed by Bartel, 2009; Bushati & Cohen, 2007; Farazi et al, 2011 and Flynt & Lai, 2008).

2.2 Silencing by RNAi – an overview

Almost coincident with the elucidation of miRNA pathway, another form of gene silencing by small non-coding RNAs, known as RNAi was discovered. Broadly, RNAi can be defined as double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) triggered gene silencing phenomenon in which, dsRNA is processed to siRNAs, that direct the cleavage of complementary RNA transcripts by the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) (Fig. B).



Figure B Silencing induced by RNAi.

It was five years after the discovery of first miRNA, when the studies conducted by Fire, Mello and co-workers (Fire et al, 1998) observed this phenomenon of gene silencing in *C. elegans*, triggered by long dsRNA. Soon thereafter, the work with the biochemical recapitulation of dsRNA-induced silencing in *vitro* by *Drosophila melanogaster* embryo lysates (Tuschl et al, 1999) and *Drosophila* S2 cells (Hammond et al, 2000), collectively demonstrated that the dsRNA is converted into 21-23 nt duplex siRNAs. It was soon realized that both siRNA- and miRNA-guided silencing pathways

Introduction

converge to form similar effector complex by sharing a common set of proteins in biogenesis and effector functions. Like pre-miRNAs, dsRNA is processed by Dicer (Bernstein et al, 2001; Billy et al, 2001; Ketting et al, 2001) to generate siRNAs which associate with effector proteins, to form RNA-induced silencing complexes (siRISCs), and guide it to specific transcripts in a sequence-specific manner, bringing about the silencing (Elbashir et al, 2001b; Hammond et al, 2000; Zamore et al, 2000). However, while human cells contain only one Dicer protein to generate small miRNA or siRNA duplexes, in Drosophila two distinct dicer proteins are designated to function separately in two pathways. DCR1 processes pre-miRNAs and DCR2 generates siRNAs (Lee et al, 2004).

2.3 The effector phase of RNA silencing

2.3.1 RISC – RNA induced silencing complex

In order to identify the core component of RISC, both genetic (Tabara et al, 1999) and biochemical studies (Hammond et al, 2001) were performed and it was demonstrated that members of the Argonaute family of proteins form the central and defining component of all RNA-silencing effector complexes.

As mentioned earlier, the mode of miRISC mechanism depends on the degree of complementarity between a miRNA and its target. So it is not surprising to observe that siRNAs can act as miRNAs if made to base pair imperfectly to target sites (Zeng et al, 2003) and, reversely, miRNAs can act as siRNAs if made to base pair perfectly (Doench et al, 2003). Indeed, there is an example of HoxB8 mRNA which shows an extensive complementarity to miR-196 in mammals and it was experimentally demonstrated that miRISC indeed cleaves the HoxB8 message during mouse development (Yekta et al, 2004).

2.3.2 RISC assembly

Since RISC must anneal to the target RNA by base pairing through its RNA component, the two strands of either siRNA or miRNA duplex have to be separated and whereas one strand (guide strand or mature miRNA strand) in

association with the Argonaute protein forms a functional RISC, the other strand (siRNA passenger strand or miRNA* strand) is discarded. Selection of a single strand from a small RNA duplex is not random; instead, one of the two strands is preferred to serve as the guide. Such asymmetric strand selection (often referred to as the 'asymmetry rule') depends on the relative thermodynamic stability of the first 1–4 bases at each end of the small RNA duplex; the strand whose 5' end is less stable serves as the guide whereas the other strand is discarded (Khvorova et al, 2003; Schwarz et al, 2003).

2.3.3 Argonautes

The Argonaute protein family consists of Ago and Piwi subfamilies. The siRNAs and miRNAs bind to the members of Ago subfamily. In mammals, each of the four Ago subfamily proteins (Ago1-4) can form silencing complex while only Ago2 posesses a target cleavage (slicer) activity leading to RNAi (Liu et al, 2004; Meister et al, 2004). In flies, AGO2 mediates RNAi via siRNAs, whereas AGO1 acts in miRNA-mediated gene silencing (Forstemann et al, 2007; Okamura et al, 2009), although recently both of them have been shown to retain target cleavage and translational repression activies (Iwasaki et al, 2009).

Argonaute proteins contain four structural domains as shown below:



Figure C Domain organization of Ago proteins. The catalytic residues are indicated in green.

The PAZ (piwi-argonaute-zwille) domain is shared with Dicer enzymes whereas PIWI domain is unique to the Argonaute superfamily. The third functionally crucial domain is positioned between the PAZ and PIWI domains, thus referred to as MID domain. Previous crystallographic studies of bacterial and archaeal Argonaute proteins (Parker et al, 2004; Parker et al, 2005; Song et al, 2004; Yuan et al, 2005) have significantly contributed to our understandings of various aspects of Argonaute function. Even more insight

Introduction

has been provided by structures of *Thermus thermophilus* Argonaute protein in complex with a guide nucleic acid (DNA in this case) with or without a basepaired target RNA (Wang et al, 2008a; Wang et al, 2009; Wang et al, 2008b). The 3' end of the small RNA is anchored to the PAZ domain whereas the MID domain contains a highly basic pocket specifically binding to the characteristic 5' phosphate of the terminal nucleotide of the small RNA. The PIWI domain shows similarity to RNase H fold and harbours three residues, usually Asp-Asp-His (D597, D669, H807 in the case of human Ago2), which form the catalytic triad (Liu et al, 2004; Rivas et al, 2005; Song et al, 2004). Thus, the carries cleavage-competent Ago2 out the guide strand-dependent endonucleolytic cleavage of a base-paired target through its PIWI domain. Interestingly, human Ago3 is catalytically inactive, even though the catalytic triad DDH is conserved (Rivas et al, 2005), indicating that additional factors such as posttranslational modification or interaction with specific proteins may modify the activity of Ago proteins.

2.3.4 Target RNA cleavage by RISC

The minimal RISC that cleaves target RNA complementary to the guide RNA is a ~160 kDa complex containing small single-stranded RNA and Ago2 protein (Martinez et al, 2002; Schwarz et al, 2002). RISC is a Mg²⁺-dependent endonuclease (Martinez & Tuschl, 2004; Schwarz et al, 2004) and its catalytic center is located within the Piwi domain of Ago2 (Liu et al, 2004; Rivas et al, 2005). RISC cleaves the target RNA once, in the middle of region complementary to the guide RNA (Elbashir et al, 2001a), and the cleavage reaction does not require ATP (Haley & Zamore, 2004; Martinez & Tuschl, 2004; Nykanen et al, 2001; Rivas et al, 2005). The guide RNA is presumed to form an A-form helix with the target RNA for the cleavage to occur (Chiu & Rana, 2003; Haley & Zamore, 2004). In an attempt to determine how RISC finds its target RNA it has been shown that the RISC is unable to unfold structured RNA and, during the course of target recognition, RISC transiently contacts single-stranded RNA nonspecifically and promotes the siRNA-target RNA annealing (Ameres et al, 2007). The 'scissile phosphate' is located opposite the 10th phosphodiester bond of the guide strand, counting from its

Introduction

5' end (Elbashir et al, 2001b). Cleavage by RISC leaves 3' hydroxyl and 5' monophosphate termini (Martinez & Tuschl, 2004; Schwarz et al, 2004). The mRNA cleavage products are subsequently degraded; the 5' mRNA fragment is degraded from its 3' end by the exosome, whereas the 3' fragment is degraded from its 5' end by an exoribonuclease XRN1 (Orban & Izaurralde, 2005). RISC is a multiple-turnover enzyme – the siRNA guides RISC to its RNA target, the target is cleaved and the siRNA remains intact within the RISC (Haley & Zamore, 2004; Hutvagner & Zamore, 2002; Martinez & Tuschl, 2004).

2.4 Effects of miRNAs on translation

2.4.1 Repression at post-initiation stage

Initial studies performed in C. elegans found that miRNA lin-4 inhibits the expression of targets lin-14 and lin-28 without a reduction in mRNA abundance or a shift in polysome. These findings indicated that the repression occurred at the level of translation but after translation had been initiated (Olsen & Ambros, 1999; Seggerson et al, 2002). Later studies in the mammalian cell cultures also supported the idea of the miRNA-mediated inhibition at the post-initiation step (Maroney et al, 2006; Nottrott et al, 2006; Petersen et al, 2006). As additional evidence for the model, Petersen et al (2006) showed that cap-independent translation, driven by HCV and CrPV IRES, which does not require most of the initiation factors for translation, was also repressed by miRNA. In these studies, the target RNAs were observed to be present in the actively translating polysome with a significant reduction in the corresponding protein level. To rationalize these observations, Nottrott et al (2006) proposed the co-translational degradation of the nascent polypeptide chain whereas Petersen et al (2006) suggested that miRNAs cause ribosomes to dissociate prematurely from mRNA (ribosome drop-off).

2.4.2 Repression at the initiation stage

In contrast to these studies, others reported conflicting results indicating that miRNAs inhibit translation at the initiation step. The first study to establish this mechanism used both the tethering approach and reporters targeted by the

endogenous let-7 miRNA (Pillai et al, 2005). Polyribosomal profiling of let-7targeted mRNAs demonstrated a shift of the targeted mRNA into the upper gradient fractions when the reporter mRNA contained target sites for let-7, consistent with inhibition of translation initiation. Furthermore, capindependent translation was not affected by miRNA action. This was determined by using cap analogs as well as bicistronic constructs containing an IRES or tethered eIF4E or eIF4G initiation factors. Work from the Preiss laboratory was published soon thereafter, and derived similar conclusions using an artificial miRNA (CXCR4) that targeted a transfected reporter mRNA (Humphreys et al, 2005). Additionally, a recent study argued that both lin-4 and let-7 miRNAs in *C.elegans* target the initiation step of translation rather than the post-initiation step (Ding & Grosshans, 2009).

Further evidences in support of the initiation to be the target of the miRNA-mediated repression were obtained from in vitro reconstituted systems that recapitulated miRNA-mediated repression. The first cell-free system to be functional was reported by Novina laboratory using a rabbit reticulocyte lysate (Wang et al, 2006). Subsequently, several other groups demonstrated similar effects in extracts from *Drosophila* embryos (Thermann & Hentze, 2007; Zdanowicz et al, 2009), Krebs II-ascites cells (Mathonnet et al, 2007) and HEK 293 cells (Wakiyama et al, 2007). Overall, all these studies provided evidences for the miRNA-mediated inhibition of cap-dependent translation initiation.

2.4.3 Translational activation

Challenging the well established inhibitory role of miRNAs in translation, recent studies from Steitz laboratory suggested that miRNAs may act to enhance translation under certain cellular conditions (Vasudevan et al, 2007; Vasudevan et al, 2008). Specifically, under serum-starved condition, miR369-3 was shown to enhance the translation of TNFα mRNA in mammalian cells. This miRNA-mediated enhancement of translation required the interaction of FXR1 protein with Ago2. Translational enhancement was not limited to miR369-3, as let-7 and CXCR4 miRNAs also enhanced translation of target mRNAs under serum-starvation conditions. Overall, they presented a model whereby miRNAs act as translational repressors in proliferating cells, but as

activators when cells quiesce. Extending this observation, they also demonstrated up-regulation of the target Myt1 kinase mRNA by miR16 and of miRNA reporters in immature *Xenopus laevis* oocytes (Mortensen et al, 2011).

2.5 Target destabilization by miRNAs

Despite the original discovery that miRNAs repress translation of target genes without changing the corresponding mRNA levels, many subsequent studies have challenged this notion. Microarray analyses showed that ectopic expression of a miRNA reduced the levels of target mRNAs carrying regions complementary to the seed (Lim et al, 2005). In an independent study, endogenous targets of two C. elegans miRNAs (let-7 and lin-4) were shown to be degraded during the larval stage, when the relevant miRNAs were produced (Bagga et al, 2005), contrary to earlier reports (Olsen & Ambros, 1999; Wightman et al, 1993). In a recent study, investigators found that for both ectopic and endogenous miRNA regulatory interactions, lowered mRNA levels account for most (~84%) of the decreased protein production (Guo et al, 2010).

In contrast to siRNA-mediated mRNA endonucleolytic cleavage, miRNA-mediated mRNA decay was demonstrated to operate via a more traditional deadenylation-dependent degradation pathway. The first evidence that deadenylation is triggered by miRNP interactions, suggesting that mRNAs are generally destabilized by the action of the miRNP complex, originated from studies in zebrafish (Giraldez et al, 2006). Concurrently, miRNAdependent deadenylation and subsequent decay of target mRNA was shown to occur in the mammalian cells (Wu et al, 2006). Subsequently, numerous studies with reporter constructs in various biological models demonstrated reduction in mRNA abundance that correlated with the silencing of gene expression. These connections between miRNAs and RNA degradation, as supported by biochemical and genetic studies, described GW182 proteins to be the mediator of the phenomenon. GW182 proteins (Drosophila has only one GW182 protein and humans contain three paralogues, TNRC6A, B and C) were found to be the crucial components of miRISC which act downstream

of Ago proteins. GW182 proteins recruit the poly(A)-binding protein (PABP) and the deadenylase complex CCR4:NOT1 to the target mRNA resulting in its deadenylation (Behm-Ansmant et al, 2006; Eulalio et al, 2009; Fabian et al, 2009; reviewed by Fabian et al, 2010; Huntzinger & Izaurralde, 2011). These reports unequivocally demonstrated that mRNA decay is an important component of the miRNA-mediated gene silencing.

2.6 Role of P-bodies in miRNA silencing

Ago and GW182 proteins are often found to be enriched in P-bodies (Processing bodies). P-bodies are discrete cytoplasmic structures that accumulate translationally silent mRNAs. They are implicated in translational repression and mRNA degradation (reviewed in Eulalio et al, 2007; Parker & Sheth, 2007). P-bodies are devoid of ribosomes and most translation initiation factors, consistent with the idea that they store translationally inactive mRNAs (Teixeira et al, 2005). P-bodies were found to be enriched in RNA degradative enzymes (Dcp1/2, Xrn1, Lsm1-7, and others) as well as to contain miRISC proteins, and miRNAs and their targets (Bhattacharyya et al, 2006; Eystathioy et al, 2002; Ingelfinger et al, 2002; Liu et al, 2005a; Liu et al, 2005b; Pillai et al, 2005; Sen & Blau, 2005; van Dijk et al, 2002). Moreover, depletion of the miRISC-associated proteins such as GW182 or RCK was shown to disaggregate P-bodies leading to the impaired gene silencing (Chu & Rana, 2006; Jakymiw et al, 2005; Liu et al, 2005a). Collectively, these reports suggest a role of P-bodies in the miRNA-mediated repression.

2.7 HuR – regulatory RBP with many functions

Control of mRNA turnover and translatability by the RNA binding proteins (RBPs) is an intensively studied research area in the field of posttranscriptional gene regulation. For example, many RBPs interact with *cis* acting AU-rich elements (AREs) present in the 3'UTR of mRNAs in a regulated manner to bring about the effect on mRNA translation and stability. Approximately 3,000 human genes contain AREs, representing 8% of human

genome (Khabar et al, 2005). The majority of known ARE binding proteins promote mRNA degradation (e.g., TTP, AUF1, BRF1) and/or inhibition of translation (Barreau et al, 2005; Chen & Shyu, 1995; Zhang et al, 2002). On the contrary, the ELAV/Hu family of RBPs acts to stabilize ARE-containing transcripts.

2.7.1 Functional studies on HuR

The ELAV protein family is comprised of a number of conserved RBPs named after its first member, ELAV (embryonic lethal abnormal visual), identified in Drosophila (Robinow et al, 1988). In mammals and in Xenopus, the ELAV/Hu family consists of three neuron-specific members [HuB (Hel-N1), HuC and HuD] and one ubiquitously expressed member (HuR). Mammalian HuR was first cloned by Furneaux laboratory (Ma et al, 1996). In mammalian cells, HuR has been shown to bind and stabilize a large number of ARE-containing transcripts such as cyclin A, cyclin B1 (Wang et al, 2000a), p21 (Wang et al, 2000b), p53 (Zou et al, 2006), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) (Dean et al, 2001), interleukin-3 (IL-3) (Ming et al, 2001), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Levy et al, 1998), β -actin (Dormoy-Raclet et al, 2007), urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) and its receptor (uPAR) (Tran et al, 2003). In many cases, HuR promoted the translation of the target RNAs [e.g., glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1) (Gantt et al, 2006), cationic amino acid transporter 1 (CAT1) (Yaman et al, 2002), prothymosin alpha (ProTα) (Lal et al, 2005), p53 (Mazan-Mamczarz et al, 2003), cytochrome c (Kawai et al, 2006), hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha (HIF1α) (Galban et al, 2008)]. Thereby, by acting upon these various mRNAs, HuR has been implicated in several key biological functions including cell growth, differentiation, apoptosis, signal transduction, hematopoiesis, nutrient transport and metabolism. Although HuR is predominantly a nuclear protein, its mRNAstabilizing function and ability to modulate translation is highly linked to its transport to the cytoplasm. Indeed, overexpression and cytoplasmic localization of HuR, leading to stabilization of several cancer relevant genes, have been the hallmark of many cancers.

However the molecular mechanism underlying the HuR function is not very well understood. Initial report demonstrated direct binding of Hu proteins

via RRM3 to polyA tail of the target mRNA (Ma et al, 1997) whereas subsequent study suggested that HuRs act by protecting the body of the transcript from degradation (Peng et al, 1998). In general, it is believed that HuR stabilizes mRNAs primarily by competing with other decay promoting RBPs (Lal et al, 2004; reviewed by Pascale & Govoni, 2011).

In order to understand the *in vivo* function of HuR, the investigators generated transgenic mice and showed that the misregulation of HuR, due to expression of a HuR transgene, prevents the production of fully functional gametes in mice providing evidences for its involvement in spermatogenesis (Levadoux-Martin et al, 2003). Recently, one study reported that global deletion of murine HuR in knock-out mouse induced atrophy of hematopoietic organs, extensive loss of intestinal villi, obstructive enterocolitis, and lethality within 10 days after birth. Upon HuR deletion, progenitor cells in the bone marrow, thymus, and intestine underwent apoptosis, whereas hematopoetic quiescent stem cells and differentiated cells were unaffected. Binding of HuR to Mdm2 mRNA, a critical negative regulator of p53 was demonstrated to be the reason behind the phenotype (Ghosh et al, 2009). In another study, the investigators showed that HuR-null embryos exhibited a stage retardation phenotype and failed to survive beyond midgestation. By means of conditional knock-out, they restricted HuR's deletion to either embryonic or endothelial compartments to demonstrate that embryonic lethality is consequent to defects in extraembryonic placenta. HuR-null embryos rescued from these placental defects proceeded to subsequent developmental stages but displayed defects in skeletal ossification, fusions in limb elements, and asplenia. By further analysis, they identified transcription and growth factor mRNAs controlled by HuR, primarily at the posttranscriptional level responsible for guiding morphogenesis, specification, and patterning in skeletal development (Katsanou et al, 2009).

2.7.2 Structure of HuR

In general, RBPs are modular in composition consisting of one or more RNA binding domains (RBDs) and at least one additional auxiliary domain. In eukaryotes, the most frequently occurring RBD is the ~80-90 amino-acid long RNA recognition motif (RRM) containing two consensus ribonucleoprotein

(RNP) motifs separated by 25-35 amino acids that interact directly with the RNA. Each of the RNP motifs, octameric RNP1 and hexameric RNP2, contains conserverd aromatic residues that are engaged in the interactions with RNA. The consensus structure of RRM consists of four-stranded antiparallel β -sheets and two α -helices (β 1- α 1- β 2- β 3- α 2- β 4) and the location of the RNP motifs in the first and third β -strands of the RRM is highly conserved (Birney et al, 1993; Burd & Dreyfuss, 1994). It is usually the variable regions between the RNP motifs and RRMs that impart the sequence specificity to the RBP. HuR, like all other ELAV proteins, has a characteristic structure of three RRMs, with RRM1 and RRM2 positioned next to each other and followed by a hinge region and a terminal RRM3 (Fig. D) (Good, 1995). Although the RRMs share a high degree of sequence homology among the ELAV family, the N-terminus and the linker region reflect greater diversity (Sakai et al, 1999).



Figure D Schematic diagram of HuR structure. The positions of different domains are indicated by amino acid numbers.

2.7.3 Nucleocytoplasmic shuttling and regulation through modification

The hinge region of the protein contains the <u>H</u>uR <u>n</u>ucleocytoplasmic <u>s</u>huttling domain (HNS, spanning residues 205-237) (Fan & Steitz, 1998) that regulates the cytoplasmic abundance of HuR by interacting with components of nucleocytoplasmic transport machinery. The investigation by the Steitz group demonstrated that HuR uses two alternative export pathways. In the CRM1-dependent indirect pathway, HuR moves out of the nucleus in association with ligands pp32 and APRIL (acidic protein rich in leucine), which contains nuclear export signal (NES) recognized by the export receptor CRM1(Gallouzi et al, 2001; Gallouzi & Steitz, 2001). The other pathway involves direct interaction with Transportin 2 (Trn2) (Gallouzi & Steitz, 2001). However, later Trn2 was found to be the nuclear import receptor for HuR (Guttinger et al, 2004; van der Giessen & Gallouzi, 2007) and, in an independent study, from

the Steitz laboratory also showed that both, Trn1 and Trn2 can function as redundant import receptors for HuR (Rebane et al, 2004). Importin- α was also shown to be involved in a nuclear import of HuR (Wang et al, 2004).

As mentioned earlier, movement of HuR from the nucleus to the cytoplasm is linked with its ability to promote mRNA stability and influence translation. In normal non-transformed cells, this cytoplasmic translocation is observed in response to various kinds of external stimuli; most of them induce stress i.e., UV irradiation, heat shock, starvation, hypoxia, ER stress, or global transcription block (Abdelmohsen et al, 2008; Atasoy et al, 1998; Fan & Steitz, 1998; Levy et al, 1998; Wang et al, 2000b; Westmark et al, 2005; Yaman et al, 2002; Zou et al, 2006). Several posttranslational modifications of HuR mediated by several effectors of the signaling cascades activated by these stimuli or otherwise have been found to influence HuR subcellular localization.

The first reported modification of HuR, a methylation at residue R217 by CARM1 (coactivator-associated arginine methyltransferase 1) was implicated in its translocation to the cytoplasm in response to lipopolysaccharide (Li et al, 2002). Recently, studies from the Gorospe and Eberhardt laboratories correlated HuR phosphorylation within the hinge region to the nucleo-cytoplasmic localization of HuR. Phosphorylation at S202 by Cdk1/Cdc2 leads to retention of HuR in the nucleus through sequestration by 14-3-3 protein during the G_2/M phase of cell cycle (Kim et al, 2008a). A phosphomimetic HuR modification at S242 (S242D) also renders the protein nuclear (Kim et al, 2008b). On the contrary, PKC- α and PKC- δ induce phosphorylation of HuR at S221 in response to ATP analog or angiotensin II respectively, was implicated in its translocation to the cytoplasm and consequent stabilization of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2), cyclin D1 and cyclin A mRNAs (Doller et al, 2008; Doller et al, 2007; Doller et al, 2010). Another example of phosphorylation-mediated cytoplasmic accumulation of HuR results from the p38/MAPK-mediated phosphorylation of HuR on Thr118, present in RRM2 outside of the hinge region, which leads to the enhanced binding to p21 mRNA (Lafarga et al, 2009).

The AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) was shown to indirectly affect the nuclear retention of HuR by phosphorylating and enhancing the acetylation of importin α 1, thus favouring the nuclear import of HuR. Stress

conditions that inhibit AMPK activity can repress the import pathway allowing cytoplasmic accumulation of HuR (Wang et al, 2004). During apoptosis and myogenesis, an intriguing mechanism has been documented for the cytoplasmic accumulation of HuR. In response to lethal stress or myogenic stimuli, the caspase-3-mediated cleavage of HuR at Asp226 was found to generate two cleavage products: HuR-CP1 (24KDa) and HuR-CP2 (8KDa) (Beauchamp et al, 2010; Mazroui et al, 2008). HuR-CP1, by interfering with the TRN2-mediated import of HuR, helps non-cleaved HuR to accumulate in the cytoplasm (Beauchamp et al, 2010; von Roretz et al, 2011).

2.7.4 Role of HuR in the relief of miRNA-mediated repression

As HuR generally has a positive effect on stability and translatability of mRNA, Bhattacharyya et al (2006) hypothesized that HuR may also interfere with the inhibitory action of miRNAs under certain conditions. Indeed they demonstrated that HuR relieves the miR-122-mediated repression of CAT-1 mRNA. This study demonstrated that, in human hepatoma cells, CAT-1 mRNA is translationally repressed and localized to P-bodies in miR-122dependent manner. In response to the cellular stress, HuR translocated from the nucleus to the cytoplasm and, by binding to the CAT-1 mRNA 3'UTR, brought about the release of the mRNA from P-bodies and its mobilization into actively translating polysomes, resulting in the relief from the miRNA-directed inhibition (Fig. E).



Figure E HuR-mediated relief of CAT-1 mRNA repression by miR-122 in human hepatoma Huh7 cells subjected to different stress conditions. In response to stress,

the HuR protein translocates from the nucleus to the cytoplasm, binds to the 3' UTR of CAT-1 mRNA and helps in its exit from P-bodies and re-entry into translating polysomes (reproduced from Pillai et al, 2007).

This study provided the first example for a cross-talk between miRNPs and RBPs interacting with the 3'UTR. Subsequently there have been several other reports demonstrating that the miRNA repression of individual mRNAs can be strongly modulated or even reversed in response to factors as diverse as cellular stress, developmental cues, and neuronal stimulation (Ashraf et al, 2006; Glorian et al, 2011; Huang et al, 2007; Jafarifar et al, 2011; Kedde et al, 2007; Kedde et al, 2010; Kim et al, 2009a; Nolde et al, 2007; Schratt et al, 2006; Siegel et al, 2009; reviewed by Filipowicz et al, 2008; Kedde & Agami, 2008; Leung & Sharp, 2010; Schratt, 2009). Many of these reports document a crucial role for RBPs in modulating miRNA function. Since 3'UTRs of mammalian mRNAs can be as long as 10 or more kilobases and can associate with many different miRNAs and RBPs, these findings indicated a potentially very complex interplay between the two classes of regulators interacting with the 3'UTR (reviewed by Filipowicz et al, 2008; Kedde & Agami, 2008).

3 BACKGROUND AND OBJECTIVES

The previous study of Bhattacharyya et al from our lab demonstrated that translocation of HuR from the nucleus to the cytoplasm, occurring in response to cellular stress, leads to the relief of miRNA-mediated repression of CAT-1(<u>c</u>ationic <u>a</u>mino acid <u>t</u>ransporter 1) mRNA. In human hepatoma Huh7 cells, the expression of CAT-1 mRNA remained translationally repressed by miR-122 under normal non-stress condition. The expression of endogenous CAT-1 was found to increase rapidly, within one hour, in response to different types of stress [i.e., amino acid starvation, endoplasmic reticulum (ER) or oxidative stress], applied to Huh7 cells. The upregulation occurred without discernible effects on mRNA abundance and was independent of Pol II transcription, since neither actinomycin D nor α -amanitin, inhibitors of pol II, had any influence. In contrast, the stimulation was inhibited by cycloheximide, an inhibitor of translational elongation. Taken together, these data indicated that the induction of CAT-1 expression was the result of translational mobilization of the pre-existing mRNA pool.



Figure F Schematic diagram of reporters bearing different parts of CAT-1 3'UTR fused to the Renilla luciferase (RL) coding region. The red brackets represent the potential positions of miR-122 binding sites (1-3). The AU-rich fragment at the central part of region D (ARD), characterized as HuR binding site, is denoted by the green box.

In an attempt to dissect the requirements for this stress-induced activation, Renilla luciferase (RL) reporters bearing different segments of the CAT-1 mRNA 3'UTR reporters were used (Fig. F). The induction of luciferase activity was only observed with reporters (RL-catA) bearing both the miR-122 sites and the 250-nt long HuR binding region (ARD), and deletion of the ARD (reporters RL-catB and RL-catAARD) completely eliminated the stimulatory effect of stress on translation. The stress-mediated upregulation was disrupted by depletion of HuR with small interfering RNAs (siRNAs). Immunofluoresence and in situ hybridization experiments demonstrated that in nonstressed Huh7 cells, a considerable fraction of CAT-1 mRNA was localized to P bodies. When Huh7 cells were subjected to stress, the CAT-1 mRNA was found to relocalize from P bodies to the soluble fraction of the cytosol. Experiments with RNAi depletion of HuR showed that this relocalization was dependent on HuR and this redistribution was associated with the increase in the fraction polysome-bound CAT-1 mRNA, which is diagnostic of enhanced mRNA translation. Importantly, reporter RNAs bearing sites specifically targeted by let-7 miRNA also showed regulation similar to that of CAT-1 mRNA and reporters bearing its sequences.

Although the role of HuR in the reversal of miRNA repression of CAT-1 and selected reporter mRNAs was well documented in this study, the mechanism of this HuR effect had not been established. Likewise, it was not known whether factors other than HuR, possibly induced in cells subjected to stress, participate in the process; or how HuR antagonize the effector function of miRISC. The present study was aimed to address these questions, using a variety of cell-based and in vitro systems.

4 RESULTS

4.1 PART I - Uncoupling of miRNA-mediated repression from stress

In this study, we first asked if the HuR-mediated relief of miRNA repression can be uncoupled from stress. To address this question, we used three different cellular conditions, under which HuR accumulates in the cytoplasm in the absence of stress to analyze the repression of different miRNA targets.



4.1.1 Effect of cytoplasmic accumulation of HuR mutants

Figure 1 Subcellular localization of Myc-tagged HuR and its deletion mutants in cells (HeLa). The schemes of the proteins are shown above the panels. The HuR proteins were detected by indirect immunoflurescence (IF) using α -Myc antibody (Ab) (shown in green). DAPI stained the nucleus (in blue) and P bodies are visualized by IF using Ab against marker protein RCK/p54 (shown in red, some are marked with white arrow). Bar, 10 µm.

HuR protein consists of three RRM domains and a hinge region separating RRM2 and RRM3. The hinge region was shown to be essential for nuclear localization of HuR (Fan et al, 1998; Chen et al, 2002). In accordance with these previous reports we also observed that the mutant HuR proteins with the hinge region deleted (HuR Δ H, devoid of the hinge region only, and HuR Δ H3, missing both the hinge region and RRM3) accumulate in the cytoplasm in non-stressed cells while a full-length HuR and a deletion mutant devoid of RRM3 but retaining the hinge region (HuR Δ 3) remain predominantly nuclear. Importantly, overexpression of these mutant HuR proteins had no effect on the status of P-bodies, structures implicated in the miRNA repression (Fig. 1).



Figure 2 Repression of let-7 reporters is alleviated by the cytoplasm-accumulating HuR mutant, HuR Δ H, in HEK293 cells. (A) Schematic diagram of RL reporters bearing let-7 sites (small boxes) and the HuR-binding site (the CAT-1 ARD; large box). (B) HEK293 cells were transfected with plasmids expressing indicated RL reporters and different forms of HuR. Activity of RL was normalized for activity of FL expressed from co-

transfected plasmid. The normalized values are related to activities of RL-Con which are set to 1. Representative data from two independent experiments (means \pm SD), each including three transfections, is shown. (C) A representative western blot analyzing the expression levels of Myc-HuR and its mutants is shown; β -tubulin serves as loading control.

In our first attempt to test whether cytoplasmic presence of HuR can bring about the derepression, Myc-epitope-tagged HuRΔH and HuRΔH3 (both accumulate in the cytoplasm in the absence of stress), and, as controls, fulllength HuR and HuRΔ3 (both accumulate in the nucleus; Fig. 1) were transiently expressed in HEK293 cells and their effect on activity of different Renilla luciferase (RL) reporters regulated by let-7 miRNA was measured. Reporter RL-3xB contained three imperfect complementary let-7 sites but no HuR binding site, while reporter RL-3xB-ARD also contained HuR-binding AUrich region (ARD) derived from 3'-UTR of CAT-1 mRNA; control reporters were devoid of let-7 sites (Fig. 2A). Expression of Myc-HuRΔH, but not Myc-HuR or Myc-HuRΔ3, relieved silencing of the ARD-containing RL reporter regulated by let-7 RNA (RL-3xB-ARD) in non-stressed HEK293 cells. Interestingly, the Myc-HuRΔH3, inspite of being cytoplasmic, did not alleviate the RL-3xB-ARD repression. None of the mutant proteins had an effect on activity of control reporters RL-3xB and RL-ARD (Fig. 2B).



Figure 3 Repression of miR-122 reporters is alleviated by the cytoplasm-accumulating HuR mutant, HuR Δ H, in Huh7 cells. (A) RL-cat reporters used for luciferase assays.

The rectangles in the 3'UTR represent miR-122 sites (small boxes) or HuR-binding ARD element (single large box). RL-catA Δ ARD is devoid of the 250-nt-long ARD and RL-Con represents control reporter devoid of miR-122 and ARD sites. (**B**) Activity of RL-cat reporters in Huh7 cells expressing HuR or its mutants. Activity of RL was normalized for activity of co-expressed firefly luciferase (FL). The values, representing means (±SD) from two experiments, each including three transfections, are related to activities of RL-Con which are set to 1.

In similar experiments performed in Huh7 cells, the effect of expression of HuR mutants was measured on activity of RL reporters bearing different regions of the CAT-1 mRNA 3'-UTR. The RL-catA reporter contains a full-length CAT-1 3'-UTR, including miR-122 sites and the HuR-inding AU-rich region (ARD). RL-catAΔARD reporter contains miR-122 sites but no ARD (Fig. 3A). In Huh7 cells also we found that expression of Myc-HuRΔH but not Myc-HuR, Myc-HuRΔ3 or Myc-HuRΔH3 increased activity of RL-catAΔARD, reporter bearing no ARD region (Fig 3B). Collectively, the cytoplasmic HuRΔH-mediated derepression of miRNA reporters in both cell lines provided us with the first evidence that stress is not required to alleviate the miRNA repression by HuR. In addition, the neutral effect of cytoplasmic Myc-HuRΔH3 on derepression suggested that both the hinge region and RRM3 are likely to be important for HuR to be functional in the derepression.



Figure 4 Expression of CAT-1 protein in Huh7 cells over-expressing different HuR proteins. Expression levels of Myc-HuR and its mutants are shown below the CAT-1 and β -tubulin Westerns. The arrow marks the CAT-1 protein. Asterisk denotes a cross-

reacting protein band. Samples were deglycosylated by treatment with Peptide N-Glycosidase F (PNGase F) before loading as indicated. Panel on the right represents a control comparing non-starved (Fed) Huh7 cells with cells starved for 2 h for amino acids.

To address the uncoupling issue in the light of physiological context, we analyzed the level of endogenous CAT-1 protein upon expression of functionally active cytoplasmic mutant Myc-HuR Δ H, in Huh7 cells. As shown in Fig. 4, expression of Myc-HuR Δ H, but not Myc-HuR or Myc-HuR Δ 3 (as controls), resulted in the increase of the CAT-1 protein level, similar to that seen in Huh7 cells subjected to the amino acid starvation stress. HuR proteins were expressed at similar level. In control experiments, we also ascertained, by determining the phosphorylation status of the translation initiation factor eIF2- α (Fig. 5A) and observing stress granule formation (Fig. 5B) that overexpression of neither of the proteins resulted in induction of stress in transfected cells. This eliminated the possibility that derepressive effect of Myc-HuR Δ H was observed because of induction of stress in the cells upon its transfection.



Figure 5 Expression of mutant HuR Δ H does not induce cellular stress. (**A**) Huh7 cells were transfected with Myc-tagged HuR or its mutant HuR Δ H and whole cell extracts were analyzed by western blotting using Abs recognizing eIF2 α or its phosphorylated form. Extract prepared from Huh7 cells transfected with Myc-HuR and starved for amino acids was used as a positive control. (**B**) Expression of indicated HuR proteins in

transfected cells do not induce stress granule formation (left column) but the expressing cells accumulate stress granules in response to amino acid starvation stress (right column). HeLa cells were transfected with indicated plasmids expressing either Myc-tagged HuR or its mutant HuR Δ H and cellular localization of the proteins in control and stressed cells determined using α -Myc Ab. Nuclei were stained with DAPI. Stress granules accumulating in stressed cells are marked by arrows. The scale bar is 10 μ m.

Taken together, these data suggest that stress-independent cytoplasmic accumulation of HuR can attenuate the miRNA repression of mRNAs bearing HuR binding sites in.





Figure 6 Cytoplasmic localization of HuR in breast cancer MDA-MB-231 cells. (A) Cellular localization of HuR (red) in MDA-MB-231 and HeLa cells assayed by IF using α -HuR Ab. Nuclear staining with DAPI is in blue and P-body staining with α -RCK/p54 is in green (marked by white arrows). Scale bar represents 10 µm. (B) Subcellular distribution of HuR in HEK293 and MDA-MB-231 cells. Cell extracts were fractionated to cytosolic (C) and nuclear (N) fractions and used for western blotting with α -HuR and α -tubulin Abs.

In breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231, HuR accumulates in the cytoplasm even in the absence of stress (Fig. 6A and 6B; Tran et al, 2003) whereas in non-stressed HeLa (Fig. 6A) and HEK293 (Fig. 6B), HuR is predominantly localized in the nucleus. As evident from Fig. 6A, the integrity of the P-body structure also remained intact in MDA-MB-231 cells. In order to prove the

stress-independent effect of HuR in mitigating miRNA-mediated repression, we decided to compare the activity of different RL-reporters (Fig. 7A) in MDA-MB-231 and HEK293 cell lines. In non-stressed HEK293 cells, in which HuR was primarily localized in the nucleus all three reporters bearing let-7 sites were repressed 2.5- to 3.5-fold (Fig. 7B, upper panel). The RL-3xB reporter was also strongly repressed (2.8-fold) by let-7 miRNA in MDA-MB-231 cells. However, in MBA-MD-23 cells, the repression of let-7 reporters containing HuR-binding AREs, RL-3xB-ARD and RL-3xB-p53a was largely attenuated (1.4-fold repression; Fig. 7B, lower panel). Consistent with the HuR protein being responsible for the relief of repression in MDA-MB-231 cells, the siRNA-mediated knockdown of HuR resulted in a marked increase in RL-3xB-ARD repression in these cells (Fig. 7C).





independent transfections (means \pm SD). (C) Alleviation of RL-3xB-ARD repression in MDA-MB-231 cells is HuR-dependent. MDA-MB-231 cells were treated with either control (siCon) or anti-HuR (siHuR) siRNA, and effectiveness of HuR depletion is shown in the inset. Data obtained from three independent transfections (means \pm SD).

The activity of RL-cat reporters bearing the miR-122 sites was also tested in MDA-MB-231 cells. Transfection into these cells of the mimic of miR-122 but not that of let-7 strongly repressed RL reporters devoid of the ARD element (RL-catAΔARD and RL-catB; Fig. 8A) but had only a minimal effect on the activity of RL-catA, which contained both miR-122 and ARD sites (Fig. 8B). Collectively, these data suggest that the let-7 and miR-122 induced repression of the targets is attenuated in MDA-MB-231 cells by the stress-independent cytoplasmic presence of HuR.



Figure 8 Relief of the miR-122-targeted RL-cat reporters in MDA-MB-231 cells. (A) RLcat reporters used for luciferase assays. Small boxes in the 3'UTR represent miR-122 sites and a single large box denotes the HuR-binding ARD element. (**B**) Reporters containing miR-122 sites but no HuR-binding element ARD are strongly repressed by miR-122 transfected into MDA-MB-231 cells but reporter containing both miR-122 and HuR sites, RL-catA, is largely immune to miR-122 repression. Indicated reporters and either miR-122 mimic or let-7 mimic (used as control) were transfected to MDA-MB-231 cells and activity of RL and FL was measured. The values (means ± SD), originating from two experiments, each including three transfections, are related to activities of RL-Con which are set to 1.

4.1.3 Treatment of cells with an inhibitor of HuR prevents its activity in the relief of miRNA repression

To obtain further evidence of whether alleviation of miRNA repression is specifically mediated by HuR, we used the HuR inhibitor MS-444, which interferes with HuR activity and also prevents its cytoplasmic localization resulting in its nuclear accumulation (Meisner et al 2007). We found that in Huh7 cells subjected to amino acid starvation stress the addition of MS-444 prevented increase in CAT-1 protein level (Fig. 9A). Likewise, treatment with MS-444 prevented starvation-induced derepression of RL-catA reporter in a dose dependent manner, having no effect on the activity of reporter bearing no ARD site (RL-catΔARD) (Fig. 9B).



Figure 9 Inhibition of HuR by MS-444 prevents alleviation of miRNA repression. (A) Effect of increasing concentrations of the HuR inhibitor MS-444 on CAT-1 protein
expression in Huh7 cells starved for amino acids. (**B**) MS-444 prevents stress induced alleviation of miRNA repression of reporter in Huh7 cells. Huh7 cells expressing indicated RL reporters were subjected to amino acid starvation for 2 h and treated with indicated concentrations of MS-444. The values (means ± SD), originating from three transfections, are related to activities of RL-Con which are set to 1. (**C**) Effect of MS-444 on activity of let-7 RL reporters in MDA-MB-231 cells. Data obtained from three independent transfections (means ± SD). (**D**) Effect of MS-444 on HuR localization in MDA-MB-231 cells. Extracts from cells treated with different concentration of MS-444 were fractionated to cytosolic (**C**) and nuclear (N) fractions and analyzed by western blotting.

In MDA-MB-231 cells, addition of MS-444 also decreased the activity of the HuR-responsive let-7 reporter RL-3xB-ARD but had no influence on the expression of three control mRNAs (Fig. 9C). Importantly, treatment with MS-444 was associated with a dose-dependent shift of HuR from the cytoplasm to the nucleus (Fig. 9D), correlating with its effect on HuR-mediated derepression of target reporter. This is in line with the requirement for the cytoplasmic localization of HuR for its suppressive effect on miRNA repression.

Collectively, the data presented so far demonstrate that accumulation of HuR in the cell cytoplasm is sufficient for mitigating miRNA-mediated repression of targets bearing HuR binding sites in the 3'-UTR. Furthermore, the results with HuR mutants and the carcinoma MDA-MB-231 line also provide evidence that stress-independent accumulation of HuR in the cytoplasm can alleviate the miRNA-mediated repression. Taken together, these data indicate that HuR-induced derepression can be uncoupled from stress.

4.2 PART II Characterization of the HuR-miRISC interplay on target RNA

4.2.1 HuR does not inhibit miRISC by interacting with its component proteins

Having obtained evidence for HuR being the major factor involved in antagonizing the miRNA repression, we envisaged several potential mechanisms how HuR could attenuate the miRNA repression. HuR could interact with miRISC components and inhibit their effector function in miRNA repression. Alternatively, binding of HuR to mRNA might lead to the disassembly of miRISC or its displacement from target mRNA. To obtain insight into the mechanism of HuR-mediated suppressive activity, we first tested whether HuR interacts with the miRISC components such as Ago or GW182 proteins and thus possibly inhibits the miRISC function.

4.2.1.1 Endogenous HuR does not interact with miRISC proteins



Figure 10 Immunoprecipitation (IP) experiments reveal no interaction between HuR and miRISC components (**A**, **B**) HuR does not interact with either Ago₂ (**A**, **B**), Ago₃

(C) or TNRC6B (B). Extracts prepared from HeLa cells, either control (Fed) or starved (Starved) for amino acids for 2 h, were used for IP reactions with Abs as indicated. α -GFP was used for control IP reactions. Material immunoprecipitated with indicated Abs was used for western blotting.

We performed immunoprecipitation (IP) experiments with HuR and Ago proteins from cell extracts of either stressed or non-stressed cells. HuR did not co-immunoprecipitate endogenous Ago2 and Ago2 did not coimmunoprecipitate HuR (Fig. 10A) in either cell condition. The IP experiments with ectopically expressed epitope-tagged proteins similarly showed no evidence of endogenous HuR interaction with Ago3 (Fig. 10C), and Ago2 or a GW182 protein TNRC6B (Fig. 10B). As expected, the IP experiments revealed interaction between Ago2 and TNRC6B (Fig. 10B) and immunoprecipitation with control GFP antibody was unable to pull down any of the investigated proteins (Fig. 10).

4.2.1.2 Cytoplasmic mutant HuRΔH does not interact with Ago2

To find out if the cytoplasm-accumulative HuR mutant (HuR Δ H), which is active in mediating derepression, behaves in a similar manner, we also performed IP experiments with ectopically expressed HuR Δ H and Ago2 proteins, using extracts from non-stressed cells. Like in case of a full length HuR, the HuR Δ H mutant also did not show any association with Ago2 (Fig. 11).



Figure 11 Immunoprecipitation (IP) experiments reveal no interaction between cytoplasmic HuR and miRISC components. HEK293 cells were transfected with HA-Ago2 and Myc-HuR Δ H. Extracts prepared after 48 h of transfection were used for IP reactions with Abs as indicated. α -GFP Ab was used for control IP reactions.

Taken together, these results point out the fact that HuR does not inhibit the miRISC activity by directly interacting with its components. The absence of appreciable interaction of HuR with miRISC components even in the absence of RNase digestion (Figure 10A, B, C and 11) suggested that association of HuR and Ago complexes with mRNA may be mutually exclusive.

4.2.2 Interaction of HuR and miRNPs with target mRNA is mutually exclusive

Next, we measured association of HuR and Ago proteins with target mRNAs by isolating RNA from HuR and Ago2 IPs prepared from cells subjected to different treatments.



Figure 12 Immunoprecipitation (IP) experiments indicate that association of HuR and Ago2 with target mRNA is mutually exclusive. (A) Huh7 cells were transfected with

plasmids expressing NHA-Ago2 or NHA-LacZ and indicated RL reporters (RL-catA, RL-catB or RL-Con). Material immunoprecipitated with α -HA or α -HuR Abs from extracts prepared from either control cells (Fed) or cells starved (Starved) for amino acids was used for RNA extraction. Following reverse transcription (RT), RNA was PCR-amplified to detect reporter mRNAs and endogenous CAT-1 mRNA. (**B**) HuR Δ H, which accumulates in the cytoplasm, but not other HuR forms, decrease association of CAT-1 and reporter mRNAs with Ago2 in non-stressed Huh7 cells. Huh7 cells were co-transfected with indicated RL-cat reporters and plasmids expressing HA-Ago2 and Myc-HuR or Myc-HuR Δ H. Cell extracts were subjected to IP reactions with α -HA or α -Myc Abs. RNA was isolated from IP material and RT-PCR-amplified using primers specific for CAT-1 or RL mRNAs.

We first analyzed the association of endogenous HuR and HA-tagged Ago2 with either endogenous CAT-1 mRNA or different RL-cat reporters expressed in Huh7 cells, either control or stressed by amino acid starvation. Analysis of α-Ago and α-HuR precipitates by semi-quantitative RT-PCR revealed reciprocal enrichment of CAT-1 and RL-catA mRNAs (these mRNAs bear both miR-122 and ARD elements and are thus subjects of the regulation) with either Ago2 or HuR as a function of stress (Figure 12A). They were enriched in Ago2 IPs in non-stressed cells but in HuR IPs in stressed cells. Control RL-reporters did not follow this pattern. RL-Con was not pulled down by either protein in any condition, and RL-catB with miR-122 sites but no ARD was pulled-down by Ago2 but not HuR; this result was independent of stress (Figure 12A).

In a further experiment, we measured the association of CAT-1 mRNA and RL-cat reporters with Ago2 as a function of full lenght HuR and its active cytoplasmic mutant HuR Δ H, which were co-expressed (as Myc fusions) with HA-Ago2 in non-stressed Huh7 cells. In α -Myc precipitates, CAT-1 mRNA was markedly enriched in the IP originating from cells expressing the HuR Δ H mutant, which accumulates in the cytoplasm and has potential to derepress CAT-1 mRNA (see Fig. 4); IPs from extracts expressing HuR, which accumulates in the nucleus, contained lower levels of CAT-1 mRNA (Figure 12B). In contrast, analysis of α -Ago-2 precipitates revealed the reciprocal pattern, with the lowest level of CAT-1 mRNA present in IP from cells

expressing HuR Δ H. Analysis of the levels of RL-catA reporter, which is subject to the regulation, revealed a pattern similar to that of endogenous CAT-1 mRNA, i.e., in extracts originating from the Myc-HuR Δ H transfections, the RL-catA mRNA was enriched in α -Myc IPs but was depleted in α -Ago2 IPs. Distribution of RL-catB followed the opposite pattern (Fig. 11B).

Taken together, the results presented above support the notion that HuR functions by displacing miRISC from mRNA, rather than by interfering with the inhibitory function of the miRISC remaining associated with the RNA target.

4.2.3 HuR does not antagonize repression induced by the Ago tethering to mRNA

The results of IP experiments described above indicated that interactions of miRISC and HuR with target mRNAs are mutually exclusive, suggesting that HuR displaces miRISC from its target upon binding to mRNA. To gain more insight into a possible mechanism, we investigated whether HuR interferes with the repression induced by direct tethering of Ago2 to target mRNA. We and others showed previously that tethering of Ago2, expressed as a fusion with the N-peptide that recognizes BoxB elements in the mRNA 3'-UTR (Fig. 13), represses mRNA by a miRISC-like mechanism but without involving miRNA or its base-pairing to mRNA (Pillai et al, 2004).



Figure 13 Tethering of Ago2 to reporter RNA. The tethering reporters contain five 19nt BoxB hairpins which are recognized by the N-peptide. Ago2 fused to N-peptide interacts with the tethering reporter (left panel) and that devoid of the N-peptide does not (right panel). We inserted HuR-binding ARD element into the RL-5BoxB tethering reporter downstream of the BoxB sites (Fig. 14A). Both in the fed (stressed) and starved (non-stressed) conditions, the RL activity of RL-5BoxB was inhibited by NHA-Ago2 but not HA-Ago2 or NHALacZ control proteins. Interestingly, we found that the presence of HuR-binding ARD element in the tethering reporter RL-5BoxB-ARD had no effect on reporter activity, either in stressed or non-stressed cells (Fig. 14B, left), which is in marked contrast to reporters responding to the let-7-mediated repression (Fig. 14B, right). This indicated that HuR binding to the reporter RNA cannot antagonize repression by Ago-tethering but can mitigate the repression by miRNAs suggesting that HuR alleviates repression in reactions depending on base-pairing of small RNAs to mRNA.



Figure 14 HuR does not inhibit silencing by the direct tethering of Ago2 to mRNA. (**A**) Schemes of reporters used for tethering. The HuR-binding ARD element is marked with a large box. (**B**) Repression induced by Ago2 tethering is not alleviated by the amino acids starvation stress. HeLa cells were transfected with indicated reporters and plasmids expressing NHA-Ago2 and either HA-Ago2 or NHA-LacZ as controls. The let-7 RL reporters were used as further controls. The values, representing means (±SD) from three independent transfections, are related to activities of RL-Con or to RL-5BoxB transfected with HA-Ago2, which are set to 1.

4.3 PART III - HuR interferes with the RNAi-induced gene silencing in mammalian cells

Having found that binding of HuR prevents miRNP interaction with the target RNA and the base-pairing to be required for HuR-mediated alleviation of repression, we hypothesized that HuR bound mRNAs might be also refractory to the RNAi-mediated gene silencing.



4.3.1 Antagonizing of the let-7-mediated RNAi

Figure 15 HuR inhibits let-7-induced RNAi in different cells. (**A**) Schemes of reporters used for RNAi assays. The HuR-binding ARD element is marked with a large box and the perfectly complementary let-7 site with a small black rectangle. (**B**) Stress induced alleviation of RNAi reporters bearing sites perfectly complementary to let-7 miRNA. HeLa cells were transfected with indicated reporters and RL activity was measured after 2 h of treatment with thapsigargin (TG), or 2 h starvation for amino acids. Activity of RL-Con, used for normalization, was set to 1. Data represent means (±SD) from three independent transfections. (**C**) Expression of the cytoplasm-accumulating Myc-HuRΔH in non-stressed HEK293 cells relieves repression of the let-7 RL-Per-ARD reporter. One representative experiment out of three experiments, each including three transfections is shown. Values represent means (±SD). (**D**) Alleviation of RL-Per-ARD repression in MDA-MB-231 cells is HuR-dependent. MDA-MB-231 cells were treated with either control (siCon) or anti-HuR (siHuR) siRNA, and effectiveness of

HuR depletion is shown in the inset. Data represent values from three independent transfections (means ± SD).

We first investigated whether HuR can interfere with repression of RL reporters bearing a single site perfectly complementary to let-7 miRNA. Such reporters are repressed by an RNAi mechanism involving endonucleolytic cleavage of target mRNA. RL-Per contains one perfect let-7 site while RL-per-ARD also contains an ARD originating from CAT-1 mRNA (Fig. 15A). We found that expression of RL-Per-ARD but none of the control reporters was markedly increased in cells starved of amino acids or subjected to endoplasmic reticulum stress by addition of thapsigargin (TG) (Fig. 15B). Moreover, expression of HuRΔH, which accumulates in the cytoplasm, but not full-length HuR, specifically attenuated repression of RL-Per-ARD in HEK-293 cells (Fig. 15C). Consistent with our previous finding that the HuR protein is responsible for the relief of miRNA-induced repression in MDA-MB-231 cells (see Figs. 7 and 8), the siRNA-mediated knockdown of HuR also prevented the relief of RL-Per-ARD repression in these cells (Fig. 15D).



Figure 16 Blocking of the let-7 miRNA with an anti-sense 2'-O-methyl oligonucleotide in HEK293 cells expressing the cytoplasmic HuR mutant, HuR Δ H, results in activity of the RL-Per-ARD reporter which is similar to that seen in response to the HuR Δ Hmediated rescue. HEK293 cells expressing Myc-HuR Δ H were transfected with indicated RL reporters and anti-sense 2'-O-methyl oligonucleotides blocking either miR-122 (as a control) or let-7. Values were normalized to activities of RL-Con which were set to 1. Data represent means (±SD) from three independent transfections. To eliminate the possibility that HuR is opposing the effect of ARD but not let-7 mediated RNAi, we blocked the let-7 activity by 2'-O-methyl oligonucleotide in the HEK293 cells expressing HuRΔH (Fig. 16). In control condition (treatment with 2'-O-methyl oligonucleotide against miR-122), consistent with the previous result (Fig. 15C), the repression of RL-per-ARD was mitigated in the presence of cytoplasmic HuRΔH. Upon blocking of let-7 activity, the RL-per-ARD activity was elevated to a similar level. If HuRΔH was opposing the effect of ARD, one would expect an additional increase of RLper-ARD activity in the absence of let-7. This result supported the idea that the antagonistic effect of HuR applies specifically to the reporters inhibited by RNAi.

4.3.2 HuR antagonizes activity of exogenous siRNA

We further tested the effect of HuR on activity of an exogenous siRNA, siRL, targeting the coding sequence of the RL reporter. Activity of RL-ARD but not RL-Con, which is devoid of ARD, was strongly rescued from siRL-mediated repression by the HuR Δ H mutant, but expression of a full-length HuR had no effect (Fig. 17A). Similarly, repression of RL-ARD by siRL in MDA-MB-231 cells was attenuated (~1.8 fold) when compared to RL-Con (Fig.17B).



Figure 17 HuR antagonizes repression of RL-ARD reporter induced by siRNA (siRL) targeting the RL coding region (**A**) HEK293 cells were transfected with indicated reporters and plasmids encoding either Myc-HuR or Myc-HuR Δ H. Cells were additionally transfected with either siCon or siRL as indicated. Data represent means

(±SD) from three independent transfections. (**B**) In MDA-MB-231 cells, the repression of RL-ARD by the RL-specific siRNA, siRL, is attenuated when compared to RL-Con. Cells were transfected with a control siRNA (siCon) or siRL, along with either RL-Con or RL-ARD plasmids. Values were normalized to the activity of RL-Con in cells transfected with siCon which was set to 1. Fold repression by siRL (as compared to control siCon) for each reporter is indicated. The values (means ± SD) originate from two experiments, each including three independent transfections.

Taken together, the data indicate that like in case of miRISC, repression involving siRISC, which also depends on base-pairing of small RNA to the target mRNA, is attenuated under conditions when HuR (or its mutant) accumulates in the cytoplasm.

4.4 PART IV - Recombinant HuR antagonizes effects of miRISC *in vitro*

Having found that HuR is essential for alleviating both the miRNA- and siRNAmediated gene silencing and that the HuR effect applies only to situations when the repression involves base-pairing of small RNAs to mRNA, we attempted to dissect the mechanism further, by recapitulating the derepression reaction *in vitro*, using the purified components.

4.4.1 Effect of HuR proteins on endonucleolytic cleavage of RNA by miRISC

As a first approach we established the *in vitro* miRISC-mediated cleavage assay to test whether HuR can interfere with the endonucleolytic cleavage of target RNA by miRISC, occurring by the RNAi mechanism.

4.4.1.1 Purified miRISC specifically cleaves its target RNA

The partially purified miRISC was prepared by co-expressing human FLAG-HA-tagged Ago2 and let-7a pri-miRNA in HEK293T cells, followed by affinity purification of Ago2 on anti-FLAG conjugated antibody (Ab) beads. We rationalized that miRISC purified from cells co-expressing the pri-miRNA would be enriched in let-7-miRNA and be catalytically active in cleaving target RNA bearing perfectly complementary let-7 site. The expression of tagged proteins was verified by Western blotting using the anti-HA Ab (Fig. 18A). The cleavage competency of the purified miRISC was ascertained by incubating it with the 5'-³²P-labeled model RNA substrates (Fig. 18B) bearing one perfectly complementary let-7 site (MBSp) or mutated let-7 site (MutMBSp). As shown in Fig. 18C, miRISC prepared by co-expression of human FLAG-tagged Ago2 and let-7a pri-miRNA cleaved the target MBSp whereas that prepared from cells not co-expressing let-7a pri-miRNA was unable to cleave the same target, indicating only let-7-enriched miRISC can carry out the cleavage. The RNA with mutated let-7 complementary site was refractory to cleavage by the purified miRISC (Fig. 18D). Together these two initial experiments confirmed the specificity of purified miRISC.



Figure 18 miRISC specifically cleaves the target RNA. (**A**) Western blot showing the similar level of purification for both let-7 enriched and without let-7-enriched miRISC (The latter purified from cells not co-transfected with the pri-let7). FT denotes flowthrough extract after immunoprecipitation. (**B**) Schematic representation of target RNAs. (**C**) MBSp, but not MutMBSp, is specifically cleaved by let-7-enriched miRISC. (**D**) Only let-7 enriched miRISC specifically cleaves MBSp (inM).

4.4.1.2 Binding of recombinant HuR specifically inhibits endonucleolytic cleavage of RNA

HuR protein was expressed bacterially as a His-tag fusion and purified to near homogeneity (Fig.19A). We first investigated whether inclusion of HuR affects the miRISC-mediated cleavage of 5'-³²P-labeled model RNA substrates containing perfectly complementary let-7 site (MBSp) and HuR-binding site (HBS; a high affinity ARE originating from IL-1 β mRNA; Meisner et al, 2004), separated by either 20-nt (HBS_20_MBSp) or 50-nt (HBS_50_MBSp)(Fig. 19B). As control, substrates with mutated HBS (HBS Mut_20_MBSp) or without HBS (Δ HBS_20_MBSp) were prepared (Fig.19B). The latter two

substrates did not bind to HuR whereas HBS-harbouring target, HBS_20_MBSp was specifically bound to HuR as verified by native gel electrophoretic mobility shift assay (EMSA) (Fig. 19C).



Figure 19 Specific binding of recombinant HuR to model substrates. **(A)** Coomassie-Blue-stained 12% SDS-polyacrylamide gel of recombinant full-length HuR. **(B)** Schemes of target RNAs used for the cleavage assay. HBS, <u>HuR Binding Site</u>; MBS, <u>miRNA</u> <u>Binding Site</u>; Δ HBS and HBS Mut, HBS deleted or mutated. p denotes perfect let -7 complementarity of the MBS site. **(C)** EMSA showing target specificity of HuR binding. 1 nM of RNA was incubated with or without 200 nM HuR.

During the analysis of the effect of HuR on the miRISC-mediated cleavage of target RNAs, we added HuR and miRISC simultaneously to the reaction. As shown in Fig. 20A, addition of HuR resulted in a concentration dependent repression of cleavage of substrates containing HBS and MBS elements. Since similar effect was seen with RNAs bearing the elements either 20-nt (HBS_20_MBSp) or 50-nt (HBS_50_MBSp) apart (Fig. 20A and 20C), it is unlikely that binding of HuR to HBS caused a direct steric hindrance

for miRISC association. HuR had no effect on cleavage of RNAs bearing mutated HBS or having no HBS (Fig. 20B and 20C) as they did not bind HuR.



Figure 20 Purified recombinant HuR specifically inhibits RNA cleavage mediated by the let-7 miRISC. (**A** and **B**) Representative in vitro cleavage reactions performed with different 5'-³²P-labeled target RNAs and increasing amounts of HuR. (**C**) Phosphorimaging quantification of cleavage reactions similar to those shown in panels A and B. Values (means ± SD; $n \ge 3$) were normalized to the reactions in the absence of HuR (the procedure of quantification is decribed in 'Materials and methods').

4.4.2 HuR oligomerization mutants are defective in attenuating miRISC cleavage

The *in cellulo* experiments revealed that the cytoplasm accumulating HuR mutant having no hinge region but having the RRM3 domain (HuR Δ H) effectively mediated the derpression while the predominantly nuclear mutant lacking RRM3 (HuR Δ 3) could not exert the effect. However, mutant HuR lacking both RRM3 and a hinge region (HuR Δ H3) was unable to alleviate miRNA-mediated repression, despite its sufficient cytoplasmic abundance, suggesting that both of these two domains contribute to the derepressive function of HuR. HuR, and also proteins related to it such as, for example, HuB, HuD, and *Drosophila* ELAV, are known to oligomerize along RNA substrates (Devaux *et al*, 2006; Fialcowitz-White *et al*, 2007; Gao & Keene, 1996; Kasashima *et al*, 2002; Soller & White, 2005; Toba & White, 2008).

Furthermore, for HuR and Drosophila ELAV, the hinge separating RRM2 and RRM3, and the RRM3 were identified as domains contributing to formation of cooperative oligomeric HuR-ARE complexes (Fialcowitz-White et al, 2007; Toba & White, 2008). Aiming to separate the effect of different mutants (Fig.21A) on miRNA-directed inhibition from the context of their localization in cells and to gain insight whether HuR oligomerization plays a role in the interference with miRISC, we used the *in vitro* cleavage assay.

Bacterially expressed His-tagged mutant HuR proteins were purified to near homogeneity (Fig. 21B). A full-length HuR and its three different purified mutants, HuRΔH, HuRΔ3, HuRΔH3 were tested using EMSA for their potential to form oligomeric complexes on HSB_50_MBSp target RNA (Fig. 21C). Consistent with previous findings (Fialcowitz-White et al, 2007), a fulllength HuR, and HuRΔH and HuRΔ3 mutants formed complexes gradually increasing in size in a concentration-dependent manner. In contrast, the potential of HuRΔH3 to oligomerize was clearly diminished (Fig. 21C). The two mutants able to oligomerize, HuRΔH and HuRΔ3, inhibited miRISCmediated cleavage of HSB_50_MBSp RNA, although at a concentration higher than that of full-length HuR. In contrast, the cleavage of target RNA remained unaffected in the presence of the mutant HuRΔH3, which is defective in oligomerization (Fig. 21D and 21E).

To test further whether HuR oligomerization is important for interference with miRISC-mediated target cleavage, we pre-hybridized the HSB_50_MBSp RNA with a 50-nt-long oligodeoxynucleotide complementary to the spacer separating HBS and MBSp sequences in target RNA. The resulting duplex migrated with a slower mobility than the HSB_50_MBSp RNA and also showed a largely reduced potential to form multimeric complexes with HuR, as analyzed by EMSA (Fig. 21F; note that the IL-1β HBS element is 33-nt long and probably able to accommodate two HuR molecules). Importantly, hybridization to the complementary oligonucleotide fully eliminated the inhibitory effect of HuR on RNA cleavage by miRISC (Fig. 21G), thus providing additional evidence that oligomerization of HuR on target RNA is important for the protein getting into proximity of miRISC and suppression of miRISC activity.



Figure 21 Alleviation of the miRISC cleavage in vitro involves oligomerization of HuR along target RNA. (A) Schemes of HuR and its deletion mutants. (B) Coomassie-Blue-

stained 12% SDS-polyacrylamide gel of different recombinant mutant HuR. (C) Oligomerization potential of HuR and its mutants as determined by EMSA, using ³²P-labeled HBS_50_MBSp RNA as a substrate. Identity and concentration (nM) of proteins is indicated at the top of the gels. (D) Representative in vitro cleavage reactions of HBS_50_MBSp RNA in the presence of increasing amounts of indicated HuR mutants. (E) Quantification of the effect of different HuR mutants on HBS_50_MBSp RNA cleavage. Values represent means \pm SD \geq \mathbf{r} in case of the mutant proteins and for full length HuR, the value from the presented experiment in B plotted in the graph. (F) Prehybridization of 50-nt oligonucleotide complementary to the spacer region of HBS_50_MBSp RNA interferes with HuR oligomerization along RNA. (G) Prehybridization of 50-nt oligonucleotide also interferes with the alleviating effect of HuR on miRISC cleavage. (Upper panels) Effect of increasing amounts of HuR on cleavage of HBS_50_MBSp RNA or its duplex. (Lower panel) Quantification (means \pm SD; n=3) of experiments similar to those shown in upper panels.

4.4.3. Activity of HuR and its mutants in alleviation of miRNA-mediated deadenylation

It was previously described that an *in vitro* extract derived from Krebs-2 ascites cells can faithfully recapitulate RNA deadenylation induced by miRNA let-7 (Fabian et al, 2009; Mathonnet et al, 2007) and this miRNA-mediated deadenylation was shown to be m⁷GpppG-cap- and translation-independent event. To obtain an additional evidence for activity of different HuR proteins interfering with the miRISC function, we used this established system in collaboration with Sonenberg lab. We tested whether addition of recombinant HuR or its mutants interferes with the miRNA-induced deadenylation of RNA bearing let-7 miRNA sites and the HuR binding region ARD, derived from the CAT-1 3'UTR (6xB-ARD-3'UTR). We found that addition of HuR or its mutants HuRΔH and HuRΔ3, which relieved repression in cleavage assay strongly inhibited deadenylation of 6xB-ARD-3'UTR RNA in vitro. In contrast, addition of the HuR mutant HuRΔH3 that is inactive in derepression had no effect (Fig. 20B, upper row). In control experiments, we verified that addition of any of the four forms of HuR had no effect on deadenylation of RNA without ARD (6xB-

3'UTR; middle row). As expected, addition of anti-let-7 blocked deadenylation of 6xB-ARD-3'UTR, and RNA bearing mutated let-7 sites (6xBMut-ARD-3'UTR) did not undergo deadenylation (Fig. 22B, lower row). In conclusion, HuR can interfere with the inhibitory function of let-7 in the *in vitro* system recapitulating miRNA-mediated deadenylation and like in the case of miRISCmediated cleavage assay, presence of either the hinge region or the RRM3 domain was required for HuR to oppose inhibition by let-7 indicating that though each of them are not essential for HuR function, together they confer HuR with the derepressive property which correlate nicely with the oligomerization potential of different HuR proteins.



В



Figure 22 Effect of HuR and its mutants on deadenylation of reporter RNAs. (**A**) Schematic representation of reporter mRNAs. Sequences of the let-7-binding sites (RL-6xB) and mutated seed sites (RL-6xBMut) are shown below the drawings. (**B**) Effect of HuR and its mutants on deadenylation of 6xB-ARD-3'UTR (upper row) and 6xB-3'UTR (middle row) RNAs in Krebs-2 ascites extract. RNAs were incubated in the presence or

absence of 250 nM of HuR or its mutants for indicated time. Positions of pA⁺ and pA⁻ RNAs are marked on the right. (Lower row) Control assays performed in the absence of HuR with 6xBMut-ARD-3'UTR and 6xB-ARD-3'UTR RNAs, the latter assay containing anti-let-7 2'-O-methyl oligonucleotide.

4.4.4 HuR can displace miRISC from the target RNA

4.4.4.1 miRISC is displaced from target RNA bearing the site perfectly complementary to miRNA

In previously described experiments, which involved the use of the cleavage assay, miRISC and HuR were always mixed together prior to the addition of target mRNA. In the experiments presented in this section, we investigated whether addition of HuR can inhibit miRISC or displace it from the target even when miRISC has been pre-bound to RNA.



Figure 23 HuR can inhibit cleavage by miRISC pre-bound to RNA bearing perfectly complementary let-7 site. (A) Overview of the experimental set up for cleavage assay with miRISC pre-bound to target RNA. RNA was prebound to miRISC in the presence of EDTA to ensure blocking of the cleavage (timepoint A_i), followed by incubation on

ice for 5 min (timepoint A_2) after simultaneous addition of HuR and Mg²⁺. The cleavage reaction was then incubated for 15 min at 30°C. (**B**) Representative in vitro cleavage reactions of HBS_20_MBSp and HBS_50_MBSp RNAs, as a function of increasing concentration of HuR. Reactions followed the experimental set up presented in **A**. The RNA remains uncleaved when incubated with miRISC in the presence of EDTA at 30 °C (lane A_1) or upon addition of Mg²⁺ when the incubation is performed on ice (A_2). (**C**) Quantification of reactions similar to the one shown in **B** (mean ± SD; n=3).

of miRISC with Pre-incubation either HBS 20 MBSp or HBS_50_MBSp was performed in the presence of EDTA to inhibit Mg²⁺dependent cleavage of RNAs containing perfectly complementary let-7 sites (Ameres et al, 2007; Schwarz et al, 2004). Following 10 min incubation at 30°C in the presence of EDTA, Mg²⁺ and HuR were added and incubation continued first at 4°C (to inhibit miRISC cleavage but to allow HuR binding) and then at 30°C (scheme of the experiment is shown in Fig. 23A; association of miRISC with the target RNA and effect of HuR on target cleavage assay in the presence of EDTA were verified as discussed in detail in Appendices 1 and 2). As shown in Figs. 23B and C, addition of HuR led to the concentration-dependent inhibition of target cleavage, suggesting that HuR can lead to the dissociation of miRISC which has been pre-bound to RNA.

To determine directly whether HuR is indeed able to displace miRISC pre-bound to the target, we measured association of the HBS_50_MBSp RNA with miRISC following the HuR addition. Besides the miRISC containing a wild-type (wt) Ago2, we also used miRISCs in which let-7 is loaded onto FLAG-HA-Ago1 or the FLAG-HA-tagged Ago2 mutants Ago2D669A and Ago2H634A which, like Ago1, are catalytically inactive (Liu *et al*, 2004) (Fig. 24A). Pre-binding of the wt-Ago2 miRISC was carried out in the presence of EDTA (see above) but pre-binding of the three catalytically-incompetent miRISCs was performed in the presence of Mg²⁺. Following incubation with HuR, amount of the HBS_50_MBSp RNA remaining associated with the immobilized miRISC was quantified by quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) (Fig. 24B). We found that addition of HuR decreased by 2- to 3-fold the association of HBS_50_MBSp RNA with all tested miRISC variants,

consistent with the HuR-mediated dislocation of miRISC from the RNA target (Fig. 24C). We have verified that miRISC associated with RNA bearing the let-7 site but not with the one having the let-7 site deleted (data not shown). Taken together, these results indicated that dissociation of miRISC from the target mRNA in response to HuR binding is likely to mediate its derepressive function.



Figure 24 HuR can inhibit displace miRISC from target RNAs bearing perfectly complementary let-7 site. (**A**) Characterization of purified miRISC complexes containing Ago1, Ago2, or indicated Ago2 mutants. Upper panel, Western blot performed with anti-HA Ab, showing purification of miRISCs containing Ago1, Ago2, or indicated Ago2 mutants. "I" denotes input cell extracts and "P" denotes miRISCs purified on anti-FLAG M2 Affinity beads. Lower panel, miRISC cleavage assay demonstrating that only miRISC containing wt Ago2 is catalytically active (numbers correspond to the indicated Ago protein as in the upper panel). "Inp", input 5'-³²P-labeled RNA substrate bearing a site perfectly complementary to let-7 miRNA. (**B**) Schematic overview of experiments to determine the effect of HuR on association of

miRISC with target RNA. The miRISC-containing beads were incubated with target RNA for 15 min at 23°C followed by additional 15 min incubation at 23°C in the absence (control) or presence of 150 nM HuR. The RNA remaining bound to beads was subjected to qRT-PCR (for details see Materials and methods). (C) Quantification, by qRT-PCR, of the effect of HuR on association of indicated different forms (Ago2, Ago1, Ago2D669A, and Ago2H634A) of miRISC with HBS_50_MBSp RNA. Values for RNA remaining bound with different miRISC forms upon addition of 150 nM HuR are normalized to values measured in the absence of HuR which are set to 1 (means \pm SD; $n \ge 3$)

4.4.4.2 HuR effectively displaces miRISC from target RNAs bearing bulged miRNA site

We also tested the effect of HuR addition on association of the Ago2-miRISC with targets containing the let-7 site which is not complementary to let-7 RNA in its central region ("bulged" let-7 site, identical to that used in RL-3xB reporters and 6xB-3'UTR fragments, responding to let-7 miRNA, Fig. 22A). Two analyzed RNA targets, HBS_50_MBSb and MBSb_50_HBS, differ in the relative orientation of HBS and MBSb sites in RNA (Fig. 25A).



Figure 25 HuR can displace miRISC from target RNAs bearing bulged let-7 site. (A) Schemes of target RNAs bearing bulged let-7 site positioned either downstream (HBS_50_MBSb) or upstream (MBSb_50_HBS) of the HuR binding site. b denotes bulged let-7 MBS site (**B**) Quantification, by qRT-PCR, of the effect of HuR or HuR Δ H₃

mutant on association of indicated forms (Ago2, Ago1, and Ago2D669A) of miRISC with RNA targets. Values for RNA remaining bound with different miRISC forms upon addition of 150 nM HuR or HuR Δ H3 are normalized to values measured in the absence of HuR (means ± SD; n ≥ 3).

We found that addition of HuR decreased association of targets with both wt (Ago2 and Ago1) and mutant (Ago2D669A) miRISCs by approximately 10-fold. This effect was independent of the orientation of MBSb and HBS sites, and, most significantly, was not observed when nonoligomerizing HuR mutant, HuRΔH3, was used instead of the wt protein (Fig. 25B). We note that efficiency of miRISC displacement from HBS_50_MBSb was much higher from that seen with HBS_50_MBSp, containing the perfectly complementary let-7 site.

Taken together, the presented results indicate that HuR can displace the miRISC from substrates containing both perfectly complementary and "bulged" miRNA sites and that a potential of HuR to oligomerize along RNA is important for this effect.

5 DISCUSSION

We showed previously that CAT-1 mRNA and also reporter mRNAs bearing AREs in their 3'UTR can be relieved of miRNA-mediated repression in mammalian cells subjected to various stress conditions. The derepression required the binding of the ELAV family protein HuR to the 3'-UTR AREs (Bhattacharyya *et al*, 2006). This raised questions about the mechanism of HuR action and that of other possibly stress-induced factors that may participate in the process. In this present study, we show that relief of miRNA-mediated repression involving HuR can be uncoupled from stress and that HuR appears to be sufficient to execute derepression upon binding to the mRNA ARE. Using an in vitro system with recombinant miRISC and HuR and its mutants, we show that HuR, by its property to oligomerize along RNA, leads to the displacement of miRISC from target RNA. Further, we show that HuR association with AREs can inhibit RISC-mediated endonucleolytic cleavage of target RNAs both *in vivo* and *in vitro*, and also miRNA-mediated deadenylation of RNA in the Krebs-2 ascites extract.

Several approaches demonstrated that the HuR effect can be uncoupled from stress: (1) an HuR mutant accumulating in the cytoplasm in the absence of stress led to the alleviation of miRNA-mediated repression of both endogenous CAT-1 mRNA and ectopically expressed reporters upon its expression in cells. (2) In breast cancer MDA-MB-231 cells, in which HuR accumulates in the cytoplasm in the absence of stress, miRNA repression of ARE-containing mRNAs was strongly compromised in a process dependent on HuR. (3) MS-444, a specific inhibitor of HuR, eliminated much of the AREdependent suppressive effect of HuR on miRNA repression when added to MDA-MB-231 cells, and this effect of MS-444 was similar to that of the siRNAmediated knock-down of HuR (Figs. 7C and 9C). (4) Recombinant HuR interfered with the inhibitory function of let-7 miRNA in the *in vitro* system recapitulating miRNA-mediated deadenylation (Fig. 22). (5) Finally, other *in vitro* experiments with purified components unequivocally showed that HuR can exert its derepressive effect independent of stress signals (Figs. 20, 23,

24, and 25). The experiments listed above also provided strong evidence that HuR alone, either when present in the cytoplasm or added to the reaction *in vitro*, is sufficient to interfere with the RISC-induced repression. However, our results do not exclude the possibility that further factors can assist HuR in its activity in a cellular context.

Interestingly, we found that binding of HuR to the mRNA 3'UTR can also reduce repression occurring via the RNAi mechanism, when induced by RISC targeting either a perfectly complementary let-7 site in the 3'UTR (Figs. 15 and 16) or the site in the coding region responding to the exogenously supplied siRNA (Fig. 17). As in the case of reporters containing bulged miRNA sites, the effect on RNAi required the cytoplasmic presence of HuR, as indicated by its response to cellular stress (Fig. 15B) or to the expression of the HuR mutant that accumulates in the cytoplasm (Fig. 15C) or to the cytoplasmic abundance of HuR protein in MDA-MB-231 cells (Fig. 15D); the effect also depended on the presence of an HuR-binding ARE in the 3'UTR. The effect of HuR on RNA targets bearing a perfectly complementary miRNA site was also observed in the *in vitro* system involving the use of recombinant components. In marked contrast to the alleviating effect of HuR on RNAi induced repression, HuR did not interfere with inhibition induced by direct tethering of Ago2 to mRNA in transfected cells (Fig. 14B).

The findings that HuR alleviates repression in reactions depending on base-pairing of small RNAs to mRNA but not when Ago2 is directly tethered to mRNA suggested that HuR-induced interference is unlikely to target steps in the miRNA/RNAi pathway that are downstream of the miRISC binding. HuR more likely compromises miRISC association with mRNA, leading to displacement of miRISC from the target. The latter possibility is also supported by the results of Ago and HuR IP experiments, which indicated that association of HuR and miRISC with the investigated target mRNAs is largely mutually exclusive (Fig. 12). Moreover, we found no evidence that Ago or GW182 proteins interact with HuR (Figs. 10 and 11). We note, however, that some authors have reported that HuR, either endogenous (Kim et al, 2009a)

Discussion

or overexpressed (Hock et al, 2007), interacts in an RNA-dependent manner with Ago2. In contrast, others did not detect HuR-Ago2 interaction even in the absence of RNase treatment (Jing et al, 2005) or did not find HuR among proteins identified by mass spectrometry as associating with tagged Ago1, Ago2, or three human GW182 proteins, but found it in complexes with Ago3 and Ago4 (Landthaler et al, 2008).

The notion that binding of HuR causes displacement of miRISC from RNA bearing both HuR and miRNA sites was confirmed by *in vitro* experiments performed with purified bacterially-expressed HuR and let-7enriched recombinant miRISC. The experiment using the *in vitro* cleavage assay revealed that addition of HuR even after miRISC has been pre-bound to RNA, results in a concentration-dependent dislodging of miRISC from the target RNA (Fig. 23). The immunoprecipiation experiments showed that this effect occurred irrespective of whether miRISC was base-paired with target RNA by perfect or imperfect complementarity (Figs. 24 and 25), although the HuR effect was much more pronounced for substrates associating with miRISC through an imperfect, central bulge-forming interaction. This is likely due to the perfect complementarity exerting stronger association with target RNA compared to that mediated by imperfect base-pairing.

The observation that addition of HuR could interfere with miRISC activity irrespective of whether the miRISC site was located 20- or 50-nt away from the HuR-binding region suggested that the HuR effect is unlikely to be caused by direct sterical occlusion of the miRISC site by the protein. Since HuR and related proteins such as HuD and *Drosophila* ELAV are known to oligomerize along RNA substrates (Devaux et al, 2006; Fialcowitz-White et al, 2007; Gao & Keene, 1996; Kasashima et al, 2002; Soller & White, 2005; Toba & White, 2008), we investigated whether this property of HuR plays a role in the suppressive effect of HuR on miRISC activity. Two types of experiments provided strong support for the multimerization of HuR being important: (1) only full-length HuR and its mutants HuRΔH and HuRΔ3, all able to multimerize, inhibited the miRISC-mediated cleavage of RNA. In contrast, an

HuR mutant (HuR Δ H3) that is devoid of a hinge and RRM3 and that binds target RNA but is impaired in multimerization did not interfere with miRISC activity (Figs. 21C, 21D, and 21E). (2) In addition, pre-hybridization of target RNA with a 50-mer oligodeoxynucleotide complementary to the spacer separating HBS and MBS sequences, which effectively blocks HuR oligomerization, wholly eliminated its inhibitory effect on RNA cleavage by miRISC (Figs. 21F and 21G). However, a long RNA-DNA helix formed with a 50-mer oligonucleotide puts HBS and MBS sites of the target RNA approximately 50Å apart what likely prevents any contact between HuR and miRISC. Hence, inactivity of HuR to derepress miRNA-mediated cleavage of the hybrid, may be partially also explained by inability of HuR to contact (even transiently) the miRISC. HuR has recently been reported to have a RNA 3'terminal adenosyl transferase activity, residing in RRM3 (Meisner et al, 2009). However, the positive effect of HuR RRM3 deletion mutants in preventing cleavage and deadenylation of let-7 targeted RNAs suggest this enzymatic activity is unlikely to contribute to the derepressive property of HuR.

Regulation of miRNA repression by RBPs interacting with the 3'UTR is probably a widespread phenomenon (reviewed by Fabian *et al.* 2010). Apart from the study of Bhattacharyya et al, till date, several other cases of miRNA-RBP interplay on the target RNA have been reported. Dead end (Dnd1), an RBP expressed in germ cells of zebrafish and mammals, prevents miRNA repression by binding to sequence elements in the 3'UTR that overlap with miRNA sites, thus effectively blocking miRNA access to target mRNA (Kedde et al, 2007). Similarly, hnRNP protein L, which translocates from the nucleus to the cytoplasm during hypoxia, competes with miRNA for binding to the same CA-rich elements present in the 3'UTR of VEGFA mRNA (Jafarifar et al, 2011). In contrast, Pumilio 1 (PUM1), a ubiquitously-expressed RBP, was found to facilitate miRNA repression. Binding of PUM1 to the p27 mRNA 3'UTR induces a local change in RNA structure that favors association with specific miRNAs (Kedde et al, 2010). Furthermore, a comparative study of mRNAs interacting with Pumilio (PUF) proteins showed a considerable

enrichment of PUF-binding sites in the vicinity of predicted miRNA recognition sequences in human mRNAs (Galgano et al, 2008), suggesting that PUF-miRNA cross-talk is a common event.

In addition to the examples discussed above, further cases of a crosstalk between RBPs and miRNAs have been recently reported (Huang et al, 2007; Nolde et al, 2007), although their mechanisms are unknown. Moreover, in colon cancer cell lines, the insulin-like growth factor 2 mRNA-binding protein 1 (IGF2BP1) was found to bind the coding region of the β -transducin repeat-containing protein 1 (β TrCP1) mRNA, preventing its degradation by alleviating the association of miR-183-RISC with its target site, also residing in the coding region (Elcheva et al, 2009). Additionally, IGF2BP1 was shown to target the 3'UTR of microphthalmia-induced transcription factor (MITF) in melanoma cells to prevent miR-340-induced repression of MITF (Goswami et al, 2010).



Figure G HuR-mediated regulation of miRNA repression. The miRNA is drawn linearly for simplicity. (Upper panel) HuR acts as a positive modulator of the miRNA function resulting in the inhibition of mRNAs. (Lower panel) HuR acts as a negative modulator of the miRNA function resulting in the upregulation of mRNAs. The miRNA and its corresponding target are shown in the same colours.

Interestingly, in all of the mentioned examples of RBP-mediated modulation of miRNA function, the RBP binding site on the target was positioned in close proximity of the miRNA binding site (~10-20 nt apart) except the case of CAT-1 derepression, which occurred even when AREs were several hundreds of bases apart from the miRNA sites (~263 nt). Recently, two studies involving HuR have demonstrated that the protein imparts a positive effect on miRNA repression rather than alleviating it (Fig. G, upper panel). In both cases, the miRISC access to the target RNA was shown to be dependent on the presence of HuR. This enhancing effect of HuR on c-Myc repression by let-7 (Kim et al, 2009a) and Ras homolog B (RhoB) repression by miR-19 (Glorian et al, 2011) was shown to occur in nonstressed HeLa and HaCaT cells, respectively. In later study, the UV exposure resulted in the loss of the interdependent binding between HuR and miR-19 to the RhoB mRNA, leading to the relief of mRNA repression. Interestingly, in both these studies, like in the majority of cases, HuR binding site on the target RNA was present close to the miRNA binding site. This is not surprising since recent transcriptome-wide analysis of HuR targets found that miRNA sites are often enriched near the HuR sites in mRNAs (Lebedeva et al, 2011; Mukherjee et al, 2011) or even sometimes overlapping with them (Lebedeva et al, 2011; Uren et al, 2011). The positive effect of HuR on the miRISC repression was explained by a possibility of HuR modifying local RNA structure and increasing the accessibility of miRNA-binding sites, as was shown for PUM and p27 mRNA (Kedde et al, 2010). Intersetingly, two new studies in HeLa cells from the Gorospe laboratory have demonstarted opposite results, showing that HuR antagonizes miR-548c-3p-mediated repression of topoisomerase IIa (TOP2A) (Srikantan et al, 2011) and miR-494-mediated repression of nucleolin at the level of translation. Interestingly, like in the case of CAT-1, the main interaction site of HuR and co-regulated miRNA sites on the target RNA in both examples were positioned at a considerable distance (Fig. G, lower panel). One of the genome-wide studies on HuR targets demonstrated that depletion of miRNA in non-stressed HeLa cells resulted in significantly less upregulation of the transcripts containing

overlapping (<10 nt apart) miRNA and HuR sites compared to the messages of no-overlapping class (Mukherjee et al, 2011), suggesting that the competition between HuR and miRNA to access the target site could prevent the repression. However, this does not explain the effect observed in the case of CAT-1, TOP2A or nucleolin.



Figure H The property of HuR to oligomerize along the RNA is important for its function to alleviate miRISC-mediated inhibition.

The HuR oligomerization-dependent relief of miRISC repression in the model transcripts, described in this study represents a possible mechanism of miRNA regulation, differing from other examples (Fig. H). However, careful detailed analysis of RNA structure and folding is required to gain more insight about different individual mechanism. One should also consider the fact that the RBP-RNA interactions are highly dynamic and the rates of binding and release of both miRNP and RBP can also influence the outcome of the interaction in a given cellular condition. It will be important to investigate which factors determine the outcome, either negative or positive, of the HuR effect on miRNA repression. Activity of HuR is known to be controlled by various post-translational modifications and proteolytic cleavages, and also by interaction with protein ligands (as mentioned in Introduction and reviewed by Meisner & Filipowicz, 2011). Hence, it is perhaps not be surprising to find that the protein contributes to the miRNA regulation in many different ways.

6 MATERIALS AND METHODS

6.1 Plasmids

Plasmids p-FL, pRL-Con, pRL-3xBulge, pRL-Per, NHA-LacZ, NHA-Ago2, NHA-Ago3, HA-Ago2, and pRL-5BoxB were previously described (Pillai et al, 2005). Construction of plasmids pRL-catA, pRL-catB, pRL-catAΔARD, pRL-ARD, and pRL-3xB-ARD was described in Bhattacharyya *et al*, 2006. To obtain pRL-5BoxB-ARD and pRL-Per-ARD, the ARD region of the 3'UTR of human CAT-1 mRNA (Bhattacharyya et al, 2006) was inserted to pRL-5BoxB and pRL-Per in the *Not*I site positioned downstream of let-7 and 5BoxB sites, respectively. For construction of pRL-p53a and pRL-3xB-p53a, oligonucleotides encoding an AU-rich region "a" of the p53 mRNA 3' UTR (Bhattacharyya et al, 2006) were cloned in pRL-Con and pRL-3xBulge respectively, linearized with *Not*I.

To obtain mammalian expression vectors encoding Myc-tagged full length HuR and its deletion mutants [HuR Δ H: hinge region (H) (amino acids 186-242) deleted; HuR Δ 3: RRM3 (amino acids 243-326) deleted; and HuR Δ H3: both hinge and RRM3 (amino acids 186-326) deleted], appropriate regions were PCR-amplified from plasmids kindly provided by A. B. Shyu (Chen et al, 2002) and were subcloned between *Nhe*l and *Not*l sites of pRL-Con following removal of the RL ORF. For expression of HuR and mutant proteins in *E. coli*, the inserts were cloned in pET42a(+) (Novagen) between *Nde*l and *Xho*l sites for His-tag purification. NHA-TNRC6B was described before (Zipprich et al, 2009).

Plasmids expressing FLAG-HA-Ago1, FLAG-HA-Ago2 and the FLAG-HA tagging vector were obtained from G. Meister (Meister et al, 2004). Myc-Ago2 and Ago2D669A and H634A mutant clones were generously provided by G. Hannon (Liu et al, 2004). Full length cDNAs encoding mutant Ago2 were amplified from Myc-Ago2 plasmids and subcloned into FLAG-HA tagging vector between *Not*I and *Eco*RI sites. Primers for amplification are presented in Table I. pLET7a encoding pri-let-7a was kindly provided by J. Belasco (Wu et al, 2006).

Plasmids used in the synthesis of RNAs tested in deadenylation assays were prepared by inserting the ARD region in the Notl site downstream of 6xB and 6xBMut of RL-6xB and RL-6xBMut (previously described in Mathonnet et al, 2007) to generate RL-6xB-ARD and RL-6xBMut-ARD respectively.

Table I Primers used for construction of plasmids. F and R denote forward andreverseprimers, respectively. Restriction sites present in primers are underlined.

Primer	Primer Name	Restriction	5'→3' Sequence
No.		Site	
1	ARD_F	Not1	G <u>GCGGCCGC</u> GGGAGCTTTATTCTG
2	ARD_R	Not1	G <u>GCGGCCGC</u> GCTGTCTTGCACGG
3	Ago2_F	Notl	CT <u>GCGGCCGC</u> ATGTACTCGGGAGCCGGCCC
4	Ago2_R	EcoRI	CT <u>GAATTC</u> TCAAGCAAAGTACATGGTGCGC
5	myc-HuR_F	Nhel	CGC <u>GCTAGC</u> TTGCCACCATGGAGC
6	myc-HuR_R	Notl	CGC <u>GCGGCCGC</u> AGATCCTAGAGATAC
7	myc-HuR∆3_R	Notl	GCA <u>GCGGCCGC</u> GGAGGAGGCGTTTCCTGGC
8	myc-HuR∆H3_R	Notl	GCA <u>GCGGCCGC</u> TTAGGCTGCAAACTTCACTGTG
9	His-HuR_F	Ndel	GATCG <u>CATATG</u> TCTAATGGTTATGAAGACC
10	His-HuR_R	Xhol	GATCG <u>CTCGAG</u> TTTGTGGGACTTGTTGGTTTTG
11	His-HuR∆H_R	Xhol	GATCG <u>CTCGAG</u> TTTGTGGGACTTGTTGGTTTTG
12	His-HuR∆3_R	Xhol	GATCG <u>CTCGAG</u> GGAGGAGGCGTTTCCTGGC
13	His-HuR∆H3_R	Xhol	GATCG <u>CTCGAG</u> GGCTGCAAACTTCACTGTGATG

6.2 Cell Culture-based assays

6.2.1 Cell culture

Huh7, HEK293, HEK293T, HeLa S3 and MDA-MB-231 cells were grown in monolayers in DMEM (Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FCS, 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 unit/ml penicillin, and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin at 37°C in humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO₂. Cells were split in a 1:5 ratio every second day by trypsinization.

6.2.2 Transfection

Cells at high confluency (95%), cultured in DMEM without antibiotics supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FCS, 2 mM L-glutamine, were transfected using Lipofectamine 2000 reagent (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's manual. All further assays were carried out 48 h after transfection, with splitting of cells and change of medium at 24 h.

Amounts of transfected plasmids per well of 6-well plates were: 20 ng of indicated RL reporters and 500 ng of FL control reporter for HeLa, Huh7 and MDA-MB231 cells, and 200 ng for HEK293 cells. For expression of epitope-tagged HuR, Ago and TNRC6B proteins, 200 ng of plasmids were used per transfection. For miRNA inhibition, the 2'-O-methyl anti-sense oligonucleotides were used at 100 nM concentration. siRNAs were used at 100 nM concentration. When both reporter plasmids and siRNA (or 2'-Omethyl oligonucleotide) were used, they were transfected at the same time, 48 hrs before analysis. For sequence information of siRNAs and oligonucleotides, see Table II. AllStars Negative Control siRNA (Qiagen) was used as control siRNA (siCon).

oligonucleotide	Name	Sequence (5'→3')
2'-O-methyl	let-7a	UCUUCACUAUACAACCUACUACCUCAACCUU
	miR-122	UCUUCACAAACACCAUUGUCACACUCCAACCUU
	HuR_sense strand	CGGUUUGCUUCCAAAUGAATT
siRNA	HuR_antisense strand	UUCAUUUGGAAGCAAACCGGG
	RL_sense strand	GCGAGAUCCCUCUCGUUAATT
	RL_antisense strand	UUAACGAGAGGGAUCUCGCGG

Table II Sequence of 2'-O-methyl oligonucleotides and siRNAs

6.2.3 Stress Induction

For stress induction experiments, cells were grown to 40-50% confluency. For amino acid starvation cells were grown for 2 h in DMEM without amino acids and supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FCS dialyzed against PBS (Phosphate-buffered saline). For induction of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, thapsigargin (Calbiochem; dissolved in DMSO, dimethyl sulphoxide) was added at 200 nM final concentration to the existing medium and the cells were grown for 2 h. Stress induction was monitored by measuring the level of eIF2 α phosphorylation and relocalization of HuR to cytoplasm, measured by either immunofluorescence (IF) or cell extract fractionation. Cells at early passages were used and special attention was paid to eliminate cell cultures showing signs of stress due to handling or transfection.

6.2.4 Luciferase assay

RL and FL activities were measured using Dual-Luciferase Assay Kit (Promega). Cells were lyzed in 1X Passive Lysis Buffer supplied with the kit and fluorescence was measured using the appropriate substrates. To avoid measurement problems, samples were diluted such that the reading for Renilla (RL) was in the range of 10⁶ and the one for Firefly (FL) around 10⁴. The luciferase activity was measured in 96 well plates by the LB960 Centro Microplate Luminometer (Berthold Technologies).

6.3 Immunoflurescence analysis

Immunoflurescence (IF) analyses were performed as described in Bhattacharyya et al., 2006. Briefly, cells grown in gelatin-coated glass cover slips (autoclaved in a 0.5% gelatin solution) in 24-well plates, were fixed with PBS containg 4% (v/v) paraformaldehyde for 30 min at room temperature. Then, the cells were permeabilized by incubating with PBS containing 5% goat serum, 1% BSA and 0.1% Triton X-100 for 30 min at room temperature followed by 2-3 h incubation with the appropriate dilution of the primary antibody in PBS containing 5% FCS. After washing three times for 5 min each in PBS, secondary antibodies were applied in 1:500 dilution for 1 h at room temperature in dark. Cover slips were mounted with Vectrashield containing DAPI (Reactolab). For detection of expressed Myc-tagged proteins, mouse 9E10 (Santa Cruz) mAb was used at 1:100 dilutions, and to visualize P-bodies rabbit α-RCK/p54 (DDX6) (Bethyl) was used at 1:500 dilution. α-mouse or αrabbit Abs with Alexa 488 (green) or Alexa 594 (red) fluorochrome (Invitrogen) were used as secondary antibodies. Images were taken using Zeiss Z1 fluorescence microscope using 60X or 40X objectives.

6.4 Cellular fractionation

Cellular fractionation of MDA-MB-231and HEK293 cells was performed as described previously by Pillai et al, 2005. Briefly cells were lysed by incubating with buffer containing 10 mM tris HCl, pH 7.4, 250 mM sucrose, 25 mM KCl, 5

mM MgCl₂, 1 mM DTT, 1x EDTA-free protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche), 40U/ml RNasin and 50 µg/ml digitonin for 15 min on ice with occasional shaking (without vortexing) and were rapidly centrifuged at 1000xg for 5 min at 4°C. The resulting pellet was resuspended in the same buffer but containing no digitonin and washed by centrifugation once at 1,000xg to get the nuclear fraction, which was suspended in 1x Passive lysis buffer supplied with the Dual-Luciferase Assay Kit (Promega). Supernatant was clarified by centrifugation at 15,000xg for 10 min and saved as cytosolic fractions. For analysis, 20 µg of protein from each fraction was applied to SDS-PAGE.

6.5 Western analysis

Western blot analyses of CAT-1 were performed as previously described (Rotmann et al, 2004). Briefly, cells were lysed with buffer (100 mM Tris/HCl, pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1% Triton X-100, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate) containing protease inhibitors (complete; Roche Applied Science) for 1 h at 4 °C. After removal of the cellular debris protein concentration of the lysates was determined using the Bradford reaction followed by treatment with Peptide N-glycosidase F (PGNase F, Roche Applied Science; 2 units/100 µg protein, 30 min at 37 °C). An affinity-purified polyclonal antibody raised against the C-terminus of CAT-1 (Gräf et al., 2001) was used at 1:100 dilution.

For analysis of other proteins, cells were lyzed as decribed under either "cellular fractionation" or "luciferase assay". Mouse α -HuR mAb 3A2 (Santa Cruz), rabbit α -eIF2 α (Santa Cruz) and rabbit α -eIF2 α -P (Cell Signal Technology) Abs were used at 1:500 dilutions. Mouse anti- β -tubulin mAb (B-5.1.2, Sigma) was used at 1:8,000 dilution. Rat α -HA (3F10, Roche), mouse α -Myc (9E10, Santa Cruz) and α -GFP (Roche) mAbs were used at 1:1,000 dilution. HRP-conjugated secondary α -mouse, α -rabbit (GE Healthcare) and α -rat (MP Biochemicals) Abs were used at 1:10,000 dilutions.
6.6 Analysis by Immunoprecipitation and RT- PCR

For immunoprecipitation (IP) reactions performed with cell extracts, cells were lyzed in IP buffer [25 mM Tris-HCI, pH 7.5, 150 mM KCI, 5 mM MgCl₂, 1 mM DTT, 0.5% Triton X-100, 40 U/ml RNasin (Promega) and 1x EDTA-free protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche)] for 15 min on ice. Supernatants recovered after centrifugation at 14,000xg were used for IP. They were pre-cleared by incubation with pre-blocked [with 100 μ g/ml of bovine serum albumine (BSA) in IP buffer] recombinant Protein G Agarose beads (Invitrogen) for 1 h prior to IP reactions. Mouse α -HuR (3A2, Santa Cruz), α -HA (3F10, Roche), α -Myc (9E10, Santa Cruz) or α -GFP (Roche) mAbs at 1:50 dilution, were used for IP reactions. The α -Ago2 mAb [2A8, kindly provided by Z. Mourelatos (Nelson et al, 2007)] was used in 1:20 dilution. Protein G Agarose beads bound to Abs (one hundredth of the lysate volume), were added to the lysates and IP reaction was carried out for 4 h at 4°C. The beads were centrifuged down, washed three times with IP buffer containing 200 mM KCl and used for either Western blotting or RNA extraction.

For analysis of cellular mRNAs, RNA was extracted from IPs with the RNAeasy kit (Qiagen) and re-suspended in 30 µl of RNase-free water. Following consecutive treatments with RNase-free DNase (Promega) and Proteinase K (Promega), RNA was extracted and reverse transcribed, using gene-specific primers and 50 U of Superscript III RT (Invitrogen). One fifth of the reverse transcription (RT) reaction was then used for 25 cycles of PCR amplification with gene-specific primers. The gene-specific RT primers and reverse PCR primers were: CCGCTCTAGAATTACTGCTCGTTC (RL), and CGGAATTCGCAAGGTGAGCAG (CAT-1). Sequences of the forward PCR primers for amplification of RL and CAT-1 were GGTTAGACGGCCTACC and GGCGGCCGCGGGAGCTTTATTCTG, respectively. For PCR analysis, it was ascertained that number of PCR cycles used (25 for all amplifications) is within a linear range of amplification. RNA from the α-Ago2 IP material isolated from cells not subjected to stress was used at 1:1 or 1:10 dilution for RL and CAT-1 amplification at different number of PCR cycles to ensure the linearity of amplification at 25 cycles.

6.7 RNA synthesis and labeling for cleavage assay and EMSA

6.7.1 Generation of templates for in vitro transcription

Templates for generation of HBS_20_MBSp, Δ HBS_20_MBSp and HBSMut_20_MBSp target RNAs were prepared by annealing synthetic antisense DNA oligonucleotides (Microsynth; for sequences, see Table III) to the T7 promoter sense oligonucleotode (T7s; Table III). Mixture of oligonucleotides, each 50 μ M, was heated at 95°C for 3 min in 1x annealing buffer (10 mM Tris-HCI, pH 8.0, 100 mM NaCl, 0.1 mM EDTA) and then allowed to slowly cool down to room temperature.

For synthesis of HBS_50_MBSp, HBS_50_MBSb, and MBSb_50_HBS target RNAs, double-stranded DNA templates were used. The templates were prepared by annealing equimolar amounts of two oligonucleotides (T7s and 5'-phosphorylated sense; Table III), forming a sense strand with two oligonucleotides (Reverse and 5'-phosphorylated antisense; Table III) forming an antisense (template) strand, followed by ligation by T4 DNA ligase (NEB). The resulting double-stranded products were used as templates for PCR amplification with T7s and reverse oligonucleotides as primers, gel-purified, and used as templates for in vitro transcription.

Target RNA	DNA oligomer	Sequence of DNA Oligonucleotides $(5' \rightarrow 3')$
	T7s	TTAATACGACTCACTATAGGG
HBS_20_MBSp	antisense	AGTGTAACGTTGAGGTAGTAGGTTGTATAGTCAATATCACTCTTTGG AAATAATAAAACAAACAAACAAATAAATAAATAAATACCCTATAGTGA GTCGTATTAA
ΔHBS_20_MBSp	antisense	AGTGTAACGTTGAGGTAGTAGGTTGTATAGTCAGTCTCACTCTTTGG ACCTCCCTATAGTGAGTCGTATTAA
HBSMut_20_MBSp	antisense	AGTGTAACGTTGAGGTAGTAGGTTGTATAGTCAGTCTCACTCTTTGG ACCTAGTAGATACGCACATACGTATGCATGACATATATACCCTATAG TGAGTCGTATTAA
	sense	TATTTATTTATTTATTTGTTTGTTTGTTTGTTTGCTGTACGAGAGAGTC ACTGTGCTGATGTGGACTCAACATCTGATGAGCAACTATACAACCTA CTACCTCAACGTTACACT
HBS_50_MBSp	antisense	GTTGTATAGTTGCTCATCAGATGTTGAGTCCACATCAGCACAGTGAC TCTCTCGTACAGCAATAAAACAAACAAACAAATAAATAAA

 Table III DNA oligonucleotides used for construction of templates for in vitro transcription

	reverse	AGTGTAACGTTGAGGTAGTAG
HBS_50_MBSb	sense	TATTTATTTATTTATTTGTTTGTTTGTTTATTGCTGTACGAGAGAGTC ACTGTGCTGATGTGGACTCAACATCTGATGAGCAACTGCACAGCCTA TTGAACTACCTCAACGTTACACT
	antisense	AATAGGCTGTGCAGTTGCTCATCAGATGTTGAGTCCACATCAGCACA GTGACTCTCGTACAGCAATAAAACAAACAAACAAATAAAT
	reverse	AGTGTAACGTTGAGGTAGTTC
MBSb_50_HBS	sense	GGTCCAAAGAGTGACTGCACAGCCTATTGAACTACCTCAGCTGTAC GAGAGAGTCACTGTGCTGATGTGGACTCAACATCTGATGAGCATATT TATTTATTTATTTGTTTGTTTGTTTTATTAC
	antisense	TAAATAAATATGCTCATCAGATGTTGAGTCCACATCAGCACAGTGAC TCTCTCGTACAGCTGAGGTAGTTCAATAGGCTGTGCAGTCACTCTTT GGACCCTATAGTGAGTCGTATTAA
	reverse	GTAACGTAATAAAACAAACAAACAAATAAA

6.7.2 In vitro transcription

Transcription reactions (50 µl), containing 1x Transcription Buffer (Promega), 500 µM each ATP, CTP, and UTP, 200 µM GTP, 3.5 mM guanosine, 1.25 mM MgCl₂, 2.5 mM DTT, 40 U of RNase Out (Invitrogen), and 300 units of T7 RNA polymerase (Epicenter Biotechnologies), were performed at 37°C for 3 h. Inclusion of excess of guanosine, compared to GTP, resulted in its incorporation at the RNA 5' end, thus making the 5'-end dephosphorylation step unnecessary (Krol et al, 2004). Sequences of RNA transcripts are shown in Table IV. The transcripts were analyzed by 10% polyacrylamide/8M urea PAGE, excised, eluted from the gel with 0.3 M sodium acetate (pH 5.2), 0.5 mM EDTA, and 0.1% SDS, precipitated, dissolved in water and stored at -80°C.

RNAs MBSp and MutMBS were purchased from Dharmacon.

Table IV Sequences of target RNAs. HBS is underlined and MBS is shown in italics.Nucleotides modified in MBS of MBSMut are underlined.Nucleotides modified in HBS of HBSmut_20_MBSp are in bold.

Target RNA	Sequence $(5' \rightarrow 3')$
MBSp	GUAUCAACC <i>ACUAUACAACCUACUACCUCA</i> ACGUUCAAU
MutMBSp	GUAUCAACC <u>GAAAG</u> ACA <u>GUAGAUUGUAUAG</u> ACGUUCAAU

HBS_20_MBSp	GG <u>UAUUUAUUUAUUUAUUUGUUUGUUUGUUUUAUU</u> AUUUCCAAAGAGUG AUAUUG <i>ACUAUACAACCUACUACCUCA</i> ACGUUACACU
ΔHBS_20_MBSp	GGAGGUCCAAAGAGUGAGACUG <i>ACUAUACAACCUACUACCUCA</i> ACGUUA CACU
HBSMut_20_MBSp	GG <u>UAUAUAUGUCAUGCAUACGUAUGUGCGUAUCUACU</u> AGGUCCAAAGAG UGAGACUG <i>ACUAUACAACCUACUACCUCA</i> ACGUUACACU
HBS_50_MBSp	GG <u>UAUUUAUUUAUUUAUUUGUUUGUUUUAUU</u> GCUGUACGAGAGAG UCACUGUGCUGAUGUGGACUCAACAUCUGAUGAGCA <i>ACUAUACAACCUA CUACCUCA</i> ACGUUACACU
HBS_50_MBSb	GG <u>UAUUUAUUUAUUUAUUUGUUUGUUUUAUU</u> GCUGUACGAGAGAG UCACUGUGCUGAUGUGGACUCAACAUCUGAUGAGCA <i>ACUGCACAGCCUA UUGAACUACCUCA</i> ACGUUACACU
MBSb_50_HBS	GGUCCAAAGAGUG <i>ACUGCACAGCCUAUUGAACUACCUCA</i> GCUGUACGAG AGAGUCACUGUGCUGAUGUGGACUCAACAUCUGAUGAGCA <u>UAUUUAUUU</u> <u>AUUUAUUUGUUUGUUUGUUUUAUU</u> ACGUUAC

6.7.3 5'-end labeling

When indicated, the transcripts were 5'-end-labeled, using T4 polynucleotide kinase (NEB) and $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ ATP (5,000 Ci/mmol; Hartmann Analytic) according to manufacturer's protocol. Following labeling, transcripts were subjected to column purification (Micro Bio-Spin 30 Columns, RNase-free; Bio-Rad Laboratories), precipitated and stored at -20°C in water before use.

6.8 Annealing of DNA oligonucleotide to labeled RNA

For annealing of HBS_50_MBSp RNA to a 50-mer oligodeoxynucleotide, they were mixed at the 1:1.2 ratio, heated at 95°C for 3 min in 1x annealing buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, 100 mM NaCl) followed by slow cooling to room temperature. Sequence of the 50-mer (complementary to the entire spacer) is TGCTCATCAGATGTTGAGTCCACATCAGCACAGTGACTCTCTCGTACAGC

6.9 Purification of miRISC

MiRISC complexes, preferentially loaded with let-7a miRNA, were purified from HEK293T cells (grown in 10 cm dish) doubly-transfected with plasmids (5 µg each) expressing pri-let-7a and indicated FLAG-HA-tagged Ago proteins or their mutants. 48 h after transfection, cells were lyzed in 1 ml buffer containing 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA and 0.5% Triton X-100. After centrifugation at 14,000xg the supernatant was used for IP purification with 40 µl anti-FLAG M2 Affinity Gel (Sigma). The miRISC complex was eluted with 3x FLAG peptide (Sigma), following the manufacturer's protocol.

6.10 Purification of His₆-HuR fusion proteins

6.10.1 Growth of bacterial culture and induction

1 ml of LB broth (containing 25 μ g/ml chloramphenicol and 50 μ g/ml kanamycin) inoculated with a single colony of BL21-CodonPlus® (DE3)-RIPL cells (Stratagene) harbouring the expression plasmid were grown at 37°C overnight. Next day, fresh 200 ml LB medium (containing 50 μ g/ μ l kanamycin) was inoculated with the overnight grown culture in 1:200 ratios by volume, incubated at 37°C with shaking till the A₆₀₀ rise to 0.3-0.4. The culture was induced with IPTG (0.1 mM) and grown overnight with shaking at 18°C.

6.10.2 Lysis of cells

The culture was pelleted down by centrifuging at 3,000xg for 15 min at 4°C and cells were dissolved in 10 ml of lysis buffer containing 20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 300 mM KCl, 2 mM MgCl₂, 5 mM β -mercaptoethanol (β -me), 50 mM imidazole, 0.5% Triton X-100, 5% glycerol, 0.5 mg/ml lysozyme, 1x EDTA-free Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (Roche), followed by sonication and centrifugation at 16,000 g for 30 minutes at 4°C.

6.10.3 Protein purification

The supernatant was incubated with Ni-NTA Agarose beads (Qiagen) for 2 h at 4°C. After washing the beads with buffer A (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 150 mM KCl, 2 mM MgCl₂, 5 mM β -me, 100 mM imidazole, 0.5% Triton X-100, 2.5% glycerol) and buffer B (as buffer A but containing 250 mM imidazole), each for 15 min at 4°C, protein was eluted with buffer C (as buffer A but containing 500 mM imidazole, 5% glycerol, and 1x EDTA-free Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (Roche). The eluted protein was dialyzed against storage buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 200 mM KCl, 2 mM MgCl₂, 1 mM DTT, 0.1%

Triton X-100, 5% glycerol, and EDTA-free Protease Inhibitor Cocktail) in cellulose membrane (MW cut off: 12-14 KD).

Protein concentration was measured using the Bradford assay. Purity of proteins was analyzed in coomassie blue-stained 12% SDS-polyacrylamide gel. The purified protein was kept in small aliquots, frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C.

6.11 Target RNA cleavage assay

The reactions (10 µl), containing 1x cleavage buffer (20 mM HEPES-KOH, pH 7.4, 150 mM KCl, 2 mM MgCl₂, 0.01% Triton X-100, 5% glycerol, 1 mM DTT), 0.1 µg yeast tRNA, purified miRISC (~0.2 nM), 5'-end labeled target RNA (0.1 nM), and increasing amounts of indicated purified HuR proteins, were incubated for 15 min at 30°C. Reactions were stopped by adding urea stop dye (8 M urea, 50 mM EDTA, 0.04% Bromophenol Blue, 0.04% Xylene Cyanol), followed by heating at 95°C for 2 min. The products were analyzed by 10%-8M urea PAGE. The gel was dried and reaction-products were quantified using a PhosphorImager (Molecular Dynamics).

For analysis of the effect of HuR on cleavage of target RNA containing pre-bound miRISC, the 1x cleavage buffer initially contained 5 mM EDTA in place of MgCl₂. At the indicated time point, MgCl₂ was added to final concentration of 5 mM to allow cleavage to take place.

6.11.1 Determination of active miRISC concentration



Concentration of active miRISC (Ago2) was determined as described in Ameres et al. The cleavage of excess of target RNA (1nM) was quantified in a time course (upper panel), the amount of cleaved product (y-axis) was plotted against time (x-axis) (lower panel) and slower steady-state cleavage rate line was extrapolated back to y-axis. The y-intercept at the zero time point denoted the amount of active RISC. In the presented example, it is ~0.27 nM.

6.11.2 Quantification of data

The radioactivity amount in the cleaved (I^{C}) and uncleaved band (I^{U}) were measured with ImageQuant v5.2 (Molecular Dynamics). The fraction of the target RNA cleaved was determined from the relative amount of radioactivity present in the respective band when compared to the total amount of radioactivity [$I^{C}/(I^{C}+I^{U})$]. The fraction cleaved in the absence of HuR was taken as 1 to normalize the fractions cleaved in the presence of HuR.

6.12 RNA deadenylation assay

The preparation of RNAs by the in vitro transcription, labeling and the assay was performed as described by Fabian et al, 2009. Briefly, transcripts 6xB-3'UTR, 6xB-ARD-3'UTR and 6xBMUT-ARD-3'UTR were generated from PCR products derived from corresponding plasmids and **T7-3'UTR** (GGCGCCTAATACGACTCACTATAGGGGGTAAGTACATCAAGAGCTTCG) and Oligo 3R(-) (GGTGACACTATAGAATAGGGCCC) primers. PCR products were digested with Apal and filled in using the Klenow fragment. Transcription reactions were performed using MAXIscript In Vitro Transcription Kit (Ambion) in 20 µl at 37°C according to the manufacturer's protocol incorporating $[\alpha$ -³²P] UTP (800 Ci/mmol, 10 mCi/ml; PerkinElmer. Radiolabeled RNA (0.1 ng) was incubated in the Krebs-2 ascites cell extract in a total volume of 10 µl. Aliquots of the reaction mixture were withdrawn at specific intervals, and the RNA was extracted using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen) and loaded on a 4% or 4.5% polyacrylamide/urea gel. The gel was dried and analyzed using a PhosphorImager.

6.13 Electrophoretic mobility shift assays (EMSA)

Interactions of HuR and its mutants with target RNAs were analyed by electrophoretic mobility shift assays (EMSA), using non-denaturing gels. The reactions (10 µl) contained 1x cleavage buffer, 1 µg of yeast tRNA, 2 fmol of 5'-³²P-labeled RNA, and indicated increasing concentrations of purified proteins. Following 10 min incubation on ice, the reactions were immediately processed for a non-denaturing 6% PAGE performed at 4°C. The gel was dried and the resolved RNA:protein complexes were visualized by phosphorimaging.

6.14 Analysis of miRISC association with target RNA

For measurements of miRISC association with target RNA, the purified miRISC was immobilized on α -FLAG beads and then first incubated with target RNA, followed by addition of HuR. 30 µl α -FLAG M2 Affinity Gel beads (Sigma) were pre-incubated with 4 µl of purified miRISC in 1 ml of binding buffer [50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 1x EDTA-free Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (Roche)]. The beads were incubated with 50 fmol of target RNA in the binding buffer additionally containing 0.5 mM DTT, 1 µg tRNA and 5 mM EDTA (in case of the Ago2 miRISC) or 2 mM MgCl₂ (in a case of other catalytically inactive miRISCs) for 15 min at 23°C followed by additional 15 min incubation at 23°C in the presence or absence of 150 nM of HuR. The beads were spun down by centrifugation at 5,000xg for 1 min and washed twice with the binding buffer.

The RNA bound to beads was extracted with TRIzol reagent transcribed (Invitrogen), reverse using а reverse primer (GCTCATCAGATGTTGAGTCC; complementary to the 3'-end of the spacer region) and 25 U of Superscript III RT (Invitrogen). One fourth of the RT reaction was then used for quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR), using the ABI 7500 Fast Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems) and Platinum SYBR Green qPCR Super Mix (Invitrogen). Sequence of the forward PCR primer for HBS 50 MBSp HBS 50 MBSb and is GGTATTTATTTATTTATTTGTTTG and that for MBSb_50_HBS is

80

GGTCCAAAGAGTGACTGCACAGCC. The reverse primer was the same as that used for RT.

Appendix 1

Target RNA associate with miRSC in the presence of EDTA



Figure I No effect of pre-incubation with EDTA on miRISC association with target RNA HBS_50_MBSp. The cleavage efficiency was normalized against condition 2, which was set to 1.0.

When performing cleavage assays involving pre-binding of miRISC to target RNA in the presence of EDTA (Fig. 23B), it was necessary to ensure that there is no effective dissociation of miRISC from the target during the process, before addition of HuR. As shown in Figure I, when labeled RNA (0.1 nM) was diluted with cold RNA (0.3 nM) during the pre-binding with miRISC as in condition 1, this led to ~2.5 fold reduction in the cleavage compared to the condition 2 when no cold RNA was added to the reaction. This is consistent

with the cold RNA competing with the radiolabeled RNA for binding to miRISC. On the other hand, when cold RNA was added to the reaction simultaneously with Mg⁺⁺ at the moment when the cleavage is initiated (condition 3) or added to the reaction and incubated on ice for 5 min prior to Mg⁺⁺ addition (condition 4), the cleavage of the target RNA remained unchanged. This indicates that once miRISC is bound to the target complementary site, it remains associated with it throughout the experiment. Hence, the effect we see on the inhibition of cleavage upon addition of HuR is not caused by HuR-independent dissociation of miRISC from the target RNA.

Appendix 2



HuR function is unaffected by preincubation in the presence of EDTA

Figure II HuR function remains unaffected by preincubation in the presence of EDTA. (**A**) HBS_20_MBSp was incubated with HuR (as indicated above the gel) in the presence of EDTA followed by addition of miRISC and Mg⁺⁺ to initiate cleavage. (**B**) EMSA showing HuR binding to target RNA either in the presence of 5 mM EDTA or 2 mM Mg⁺⁺ in the buffer.

In order to ensure that the presence of EDTA does not affect the derepressive property of HuR, the *in vitro* cleavage reaction was performed as shown in Figure IIA (upper panel). Consistent with our earlier observation (Figs. 20A and 20C), similar degree of concentration-dependent inhibition of cleavage of target RNA was observed upon addition of HuR (Fig. IIA, lower panel). The binding of HuR to the target RNA in the presence of EDTA also remained unaltered (Fig. II B).

8 REFERENCES

Abdelmohsen K, Kuwano Y, Kim HH, Gorospe M (2008) Posttranscriptional gene regulation by RNA-binding proteins during oxidative stress: implications for cellular senescence. Biol Chem 389: 243-255

Ameres SL, Martinez J, Schroeder R (2007) Molecular basis for target RNA recognition and cleavage by human RISC. Cell 130: 101-112

Ashraf SI, McLoon AL, Sclarsic SM, Kunes S (2006) Synaptic protein synthesis associated with memory is regulated by the RISC pathway in Drosophila. Cell 124: 191-205

Atasoy U, Watson J, Patel D, Keene JD (1998) ELAV protein HuA (HuR) can redistribute between nucleus and cytoplasm and is upregulated during serum stimulation and T cell activation. J Cell Sci 111 (Pt 21): 3145-3156

Bagga S, Bracht J, Hunter S, Massirer K, Holtz J, Eachus R, Pasquinelli AE (2005) Regulation by let-7 and lin-4 miRNAs results in target mRNA degradation. Cell 122: 553-563

Barreau C, Paillard L, Osborne HB (2005) AU-rich elements and associated factors: are there unifying principles? Nucleic Acids Res 33: 7138-7150

Bartel DP (2009) MicroRNAs: target recognition and regulatory functions. Cell 136: 215-233

Beauchamp P, Nassif C, Hillock S, van der Giessen K, von Roretz C, Jasmin BJ, Gallouzi IE (2010) The cleavage of HuR interferes with its transportin-2mediated nuclear import and promotes muscle fiber formation. Cell Death Differ 17: 1588-1599

Behm-Ansmant I, Rehwinkel J, Doerks T, Stark A, Bork P, Izaurralde E (2006) mRNA degradation by miRNAs and GW182 requires both CCR4:NOT deadenylase and DCP1:DCP2 decapping complexes. Genes Dev 20: 1885-1898

Bentwich I, Avniel A, Karov Y, Aharonov R, Gilad S, Barad O, Barzilai A, Einat P, Einav U, Meiri E, Sharon E, Spector Y, Bentwich Z (2005) Identification of hundreds of conserved and nonconserved human microRNAs. Nat Genet 37: 766-770

Bernstein E, Caudy AA, Hammond SM, Hannon GJ (2001) Role for a bidentate ribonuclease in the initiation step of RNA interference. Nature 409: 363-366

Bhattacharyya SN, Habermacher R, Martine U, Closs EI, Filipowicz W (2006) Relief of microRNA-mediated translational repression in human cells subjected to stress. Cell 125: 1111-1124

Billy E, Brondani V, Zhang H, Muller U, Filipowicz W (2001) Specific interference with gene expression induced by long, double-stranded RNA in mouse embryonal teratocarcinoma cell lines. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98: 14428-14433

Birney E, Kumar S, Krainer AR (1993) Analysis of the RNA-recognition motif and RS and RGG domains: conservation in metazoan pre-mRNA splicing factors. Nucleic Acids Res 21: 5803-5816

Bohnsack MT, Czaplinski K, Gorlich D (2004) Exportin 5 is a RanGTPdependent dsRNA-binding protein that mediates nuclear export of premiRNAs. Rna 10: 185-191

Brennecke J, Stark A, Russell RB, Cohen SM (2005) Principles of microRNAtarget recognition. PLoS Biol 3: e85

Burd CG, Dreyfuss G (1994) Conserved structures and diversity of functions of RNA-binding proteins. Science 265: 615-621

Bushati N, Cohen SM (2007) microRNA functions. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 23: 175-205

Cai X, Hagedorn CH, Cullen BR (2004) Human microRNAs are processed from capped, polyadenylated transcripts that can also function as mRNAs. Rna 10: 1957-1966

Cheloufi S, Dos Santos CO, Chong MM, Hannon GJ (2010) A dicerindependent miRNA biogenesis pathway that requires Ago catalysis. Nature 465: 584-589

Chen CY, Shyu AB (1995) AU-rich elements: characterization and importance in mRNA degradation. Trends Biochem Sci 20: 465-470

Chen CY, Xu N, Shyu AB (2002) Highly selective actions of HuR in antagonizing AU-rich element-mediated mRNA destabilization. Mol Cell Biol 22: 7268-7278

Chendrimada TP, Gregory RI, Kumaraswamy E, Norman J, Cooch N, Nishikura K, Shiekhattar R (2005) TRBP recruits the Dicer complex to Ago2 for microRNA processing and gene silencing. Nature 436: 740-744

Chiu YL, Rana TM (2003) siRNA function in RNAi: a chemical modification analysis. Rna 9: 1034-1048

Chu CY, Rana TM (2006) Translation repression in human cells by microRNA-induced gene silencing requires RCK/p54. PLoS Biol 4: e210

Cifuentes D, Xue H, Taylor DW, Patnode H, Mishima Y, Cheloufi S, Ma E, Mane S, Hannon GJ, Lawson ND, Wolfe SA, Giraldez AJ (2010) A novel miRNA processing pathway independent of Dicer requires Argonaute2 catalytic activity. Science 328: 1694-1698

Dean JL, Wait R, Mahtani KR, Sully G, Clark AR, Saklatvala J (2001) The 3' untranslated region of tumor necrosis factor alpha mRNA is a target of the mRNA-stabilizing factor HuR. Mol Cell Biol 21: 721-730

Denli AM, Tops BB, Plasterk RH, Ketting RF, Hannon GJ (2004) Processing of primary microRNAs by the Microprocessor complex. Nature 432: 231-235

Devaux A, Colegrove-Otero LJ, Standart N (2006) Xenopus ElrB, but not ElrA, binds RNA as an oligomer: possible role of the linker. FEBS Lett 580: 4947-4952

Ding XC, Grosshans H (2009) Repression of C. elegans microRNA targets at the initiation level of translation requires GW182 proteins. Embo J 28: 213-222

Doench JG, Petersen CP, Sharp PA (2003) siRNAs can function as miRNAs. Genes Dev 17: 438-442

Doller A, Akool el S, Huwiler A, Muller R, Radeke HH, Pfeilschifter J, Eberhardt W (2008) Posttranslational modification of the AU-rich element binding protein HuR by protein kinase Cdelta elicits angiotensin II-induced stabilization and nuclear export of cyclooxygenase 2 mRNA. Mol Cell Biol 28: 2608-2625

Doller A, Huwiler A, Muller R, Radeke HH, Pfeilschifter J, Eberhardt W (2007) Protein kinase C alpha-dependent phosphorylation of the mRNA-stabilizing factor HuR: implications for posttranscriptional regulation of cyclooxygenase-2. Mol Biol Cell 18: 2137-2148

Doller A, Schlepckow K, Schwalbe H, Pfeilschifter J, Eberhardt W (2010) Tandem phosphorylation of serines 221 and 318 by protein kinase Cdelta coordinates mRNA binding and nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of HuR. Mol Cell Biol 30: 1397-1410

Dormoy-Raclet V, Menard I, Clair E, Kurban G, Mazroui R, Di Marco S, von Roretz C, Pause A, Gallouzi IE (2007) The RNA-binding protein HuR promotes cell migration and cell invasion by stabilizing the beta-actin mRNA in a U-rich-element-dependent manner. Mol Cell Biol 27: 5365-5380

Elbashir SM, Harborth J, Lendeckel W, Yalcin A, Weber K, Tuschl T (2001a) Duplexes of 21-nucleotide RNAs mediate RNA interference in cultured mammalian cells. Nature 411: 494-498

Elbashir SM, Lendeckel W, Tuschl T (2001b) RNA interference is mediated by 21- and 22-nucleotide RNAs. Genes Dev 15: 188-200

Elcheva I, Goswami S, Noubissi FK, Spiegelman VS (2009) CRD-BP protects the coding region of betaTrCP1 mRNA from miR-183-mediated degradation. Mol Cell 35: 240-246

Eulalio A, Behm-Ansmant I, Izaurralde E (2007) P bodies: at the crossroads of post-transcriptional pathways. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8: 9-22

Eulalio A, Huntzinger E, Nishihara T, Rehwinkel J, Fauser M, Izaurralde E (2009) Deadenylation is a widespread effect of miRNA regulation. Rna 15: 21-32

Eystathioy T, Chan EK, Tenenbaum SA, Keene JD, Griffith K, Fritzler MJ (2002) A phosphorylated cytoplasmic autoantigen, GW182, associates with a unique population of human mRNAs within novel cytoplasmic speckles. Mol Biol Cell 13: 1338-1351

Fabian MR, Mathonnet G, Sundermeier T, Mathys H, Zipprich JT, Svitkin YV, Rivas F, Jinek M, Wohlschlegel J, Doudna JA, Chen CY, Shyu AB, Yates JR, 3rd, Hannon GJ, Filipowicz W, Duchaine TF, Sonenberg N (2009) Mammalian miRNA RISC recruits CAF1 and PABP to affect PABP-dependent deadenylation. Mol Cell 35: 868-880 Fabian MR, Sonenberg N, Filipowicz W (2010) Regulation of mRNA translation and stability by microRNAs. Annu Rev Biochem 79: 351-379

Fan XC, Steitz JA (1998) HNS, a nuclear-cytoplasmic shuttling sequence in HuR. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95: 15293-15298

Farazi TA, Spitzer JI, Morozov P, Tuschl T (2011) miRNAs in human cancer. J Pathol 223: 102-115

Fialcowitz-White EJ, Brewer BY, Ballin JD, Willis CD, Toth EA, Wilson GM (2007) Specific protein domains mediate cooperative assembly of HuR oligomers on AU-rich mRNA-destabilizing sequences. J Biol Chem 282: 20948-20959

Filipowicz W, Bhattacharyya SN, Sonenberg N (2008) Mechanisms of posttranscriptional regulation by microRNAs: are the answers in sight? Nat Rev Genet 9: 102-114

Fire A, Xu S, Montgomery MK, Kostas SA, Driver SE, Mello CC (1998) Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature 391: 806-811

Flynt AS, Lai EC (2008) Biological principles of microRNA-mediated regulation: shared themes amid diversity. Nat Rev Genet 9: 831-842

Forstemann K, Horwich MD, Wee L, Tomari Y, Zamore PD (2007) Drosophila microRNAs are sorted into functionally distinct argonaute complexes after production by dicer-1. Cell 130: 287-297

Galban S, Kuwano Y, Pullmann R, Jr., Martindale JL, Kim HH, Lal A, Abdelmohsen K, Yang X, Dang Y, Liu JO, Lewis SM, Holcik M, Gorospe M (2008) RNA-binding proteins HuR and PTB promote the translation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha. Mol Cell Biol 28: 93-107

Galgano A, Forrer M, Jaskiewicz L, Kanitz A, Zavolan M, Gerber AP (2008) Comparative analysis of mRNA targets for human PUF-family proteins suggests extensive interaction with the miRNA regulatory system. PLoS One 3: e3164

Gallouzi IE, Brennan CM, Steitz JA (2001) Protein ligands mediate the CRM1dependent export of HuR in response to heat shock. Rna 7: 1348-1361 Gallouzi IE, Steitz JA (2001) Delineation of mRNA export pathways by the use of cell-permeable peptides. Science 294: 1895-1901

Gantt KR, Cherry J, Richardson M, Karschner V, Atasoy U, Pekala PH (2006) The regulation of glucose transporter (GLUT1) expression by the RNA binding protein HuR. J Cell Biochem 99: 565-574

Gao FB, Keene JD (1996) Hel-N1/Hel-N2 proteins are bound to poly(A)+ mRNA in granular RNP structures and are implicated in neuronal differentiation. J Cell Sci 109 (Pt 3): 579-589

Ghosh M, Aguila HL, Michaud J, Ai Y, Wu MT, Hemmes A, Ristimaki A, Guo C, Furneaux H, Hla T (2009) Essential role of the RNA-binding protein HuR in progenitor cell survival in mice. J Clin Invest 119: 3530-3543

Giraldez AJ, Mishima Y, Rihel J, Grocock RJ, Van Dongen S, Inoue K, Enright AJ, Schier AF (2006) Zebrafish MiR-430 promotes deadenylation and clearance of maternal mRNAs. Science 312: 75-79

Glorian V, Maillot G, Poles S, Iacovoni JS, Favre G, Vagner S (2011) HuRdependent loading of miRNA RISC to the mRNA encoding the Ras-related small GTPase RhoB controls its translation during UV-induced apoptosis. Cell Death Differ

Good PJ (1995) A conserved family of elav-like genes in vertebrates. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92: 4557-4561

Goswami S, Tarapore RS, Teslaa JJ, Grinblat Y, Setaluri V, Spiegelman VS (2010) MicroRNA-340-mediated degradation of microphthalmia-associated transcription factor mRNA is inhibited by the coding region determinant-binding protein. J Biol Chem 285: 20532-20540

Graf P, Forstermann U, Closs EI (2001) The transport activity of the human cationic amino acid transporter hCAT-1 is downregulated by activation of protein kinase C. Br J Pharmacol 132: 1193-1200

Guo H, Ingolia NT, Weissman JS, Bartel DP (2010) Mammalian microRNAs predominantly act to decrease target mRNA levels. Nature 466: 835-840

Guttinger S, Muhlhausser P, Koller-Eichhorn R, Brennecke J, Kutay U (2004) Transportin2 functions as importin and mediates nuclear import of HuR. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 2918-2923 Haase AD, Jaskiewicz L, Zhang H, Laine S, Sack R, Gatignol A, Filipowicz W (2005) TRBP, a regulator of cellular PKR and HIV-1 virus expression, interacts with Dicer and functions in RNA silencing. EMBO Rep 6: 961-967

Haley B, Zamore PD (2004) Kinetic analysis of the RNAi enzyme complex. Nat Struct Mol Biol 11: 599-606

Hamilton AJ, Baulcombe DC (1999) A species of small antisense RNA in posttranscriptional gene silencing in plants. Science 286: 950-952

Hammond SM, Bernstein E, Beach D, Hannon GJ (2000) An RNA-directed nuclease mediates post-transcriptional gene silencing in Drosophila cells. Nature 404: 293-296

Hammond SM, Boettcher S, Caudy AA, Kobayashi R, Hannon GJ (2001) Argonaute2, a link between genetic and biochemical analyses of RNAi. Science 293: 1146-1150

Han J, Lee Y, Yeom KH, Kim YK, Jin H, Kim VN (2004) The Drosha-DGCR8 complex in primary microRNA processing. Genes Dev 18: 3016-3027

Han J, Lee Y, Yeom KH, Nam JW, Heo I, Rhee JK, Sohn SY, Cho Y, Zhang BT, Kim VN (2006) Molecular basis for the recognition of primary microRNAs by the Drosha-DGCR8 complex. Cell 125: 887-901

Hock J, Weinmann L, Ender C, Rudel S, Kremmer E, Raabe M, Urlaub H, Meister G (2007) Proteomic and functional analysis of Argonaute-containing mRNA-protein complexes in human cells. EMBO Rep 8: 1052-1060

Huang J, Liang Z, Yang B, Tian H, Ma J, Zhang H (2007) Derepression of microRNA-mediated protein translation inhibition by apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme catalytic polypeptide-like 3G (APOBEC3G) and its family members. J Biol Chem 282: 33632-33640

Humphreys DT, Westman BJ, Martin DI, Preiss T (2005) MicroRNAs control translation initiation by inhibiting eukaryotic initiation factor 4E/cap and poly(A) tail function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102: 16961-16966

Huntzinger E, Izaurralde E (2011) Gene silencing by microRNAs: contributions of translational repression and mRNA decay. Nat Rev Genet 12: 99-110

Hutvagner G, McLachlan J, Pasquinelli AE, Balint E, Tuschl T, Zamore PD (2001) A cellular function for the RNA-interference enzyme Dicer in the maturation of the let-7 small temporal RNA. Science 293: 834-838

Hutvagner G, Zamore PD (2002) A microRNA in a multiple-turnover RNAi enzyme complex. Science 297: 2056-2060

Ingelfinger D, Arndt-Jovin DJ, Luhrmann R, Achsel T (2002) The human LSm1-7 proteins colocalize with the mRNA-degrading enzymes Dcp1/2 and Xrnl in distinct cytoplasmic foci. Rna 8: 1489-1501

Iwasaki S, Kawamata T, Tomari Y (2009) Drosophila argonaute1 and argonaute2 employ distinct mechanisms for translational repression. Mol Cell 34: 58-67

Jafarifar F, Yao P, Eswarappa SM, Fox PL (2011) Repression of VEGFA by CA-rich element-binding microRNAs is modulated by hnRNP L. Embo J 30: 1324-1334

Jakymiw A, Lian S, Eystathioy T, Li S, Satoh M, Hamel JC, Fritzler MJ, Chan EK (2005) Disruption of GW bodies impairs mammalian RNA interference. Nat Cell Biol 7: 1267-1274

Jing Q, Huang S, Guth S, Zarubin T, Motoyama A, Chen J, Di Padova F, Lin SC, Gram H, Han J (2005) Involvement of microRNA in AU-rich elementmediated mRNA instability. Cell 120: 623-634

Kasashima K, Sakashita E, Saito K, Sakamoto H (2002) Complex formation of the neuron-specific ELAV-like Hu RNA-binding proteins. Nucleic Acids Res 30: 4519-4526

Katsanou V, Milatos S, Yiakouvaki A, Sgantzis N, Kotsoni A, Alexiou M, Harokopos V, Aidinis V, Hemberger M, Kontoyiannis DL (2009) The RNAbinding protein Elavl1/HuR is essential for placental branching morphogenesis and embryonic development. Mol Cell Biol 29: 2762-2776

Kawai T, Lal A, Yang X, Galban S, Mazan-Mamczarz K, Gorospe M (2006) Translational control of cytochrome c by RNA-binding proteins TIA-1 and HuR. Mol Cell Biol 26: 3295-3307

Kedde M, Agami R (2008) Interplay between microRNAs and RNA-binding proteins determines developmental processes. Cell Cycle 7: 899-903

Kedde M, Strasser MJ, Boldajipour B, Oude Vrielink JA, Slanchev K, le Sage C, Nagel R, Voorhoeve PM, van Duijse J, Orom UA, Lund AH, Perrakis A, Raz E, Agami R (2007) RNA-binding protein Dnd1 inhibits microRNA access to target mRNA. Cell 131: 1273-1286

Kedde M, van Kouwenhove M, Zwart W, Oude Vrielink JA, Elkon R, Agami R (2010) A Pumilio-induced RNA structure switch in p27-3' UTR controls miR-221 and miR-222 accessibility. Nat Cell Biol 12: 1014-1020

Ketting RF, Fischer SE, Bernstein E, Sijen T, Hannon GJ, Plasterk RH (2001) Dicer functions in RNA interference and in synthesis of small RNA involved in developmental timing in C. elegans. Genes Dev 15: 2654-2659

Khabar KS, Bakheet T, Williams BR (2005) AU-rich transient response transcripts in the human genome: expressed sequence tag clustering and gene discovery approach. Genomics 85: 165-175

Khvorova A, Reynolds A, Jayasena SD (2003) Functional siRNAs and miRNAs exhibit strand bias. Cell 115: 209-216

Kim HH, Abdelmohsen K, Lal A, Pullmann R, Jr., Yang X, Galban S, Srikantan S, Martindale JL, Blethrow J, Shokat KM, Gorospe M (2008a) Nuclear HuR accumulation through phosphorylation by Cdk1. Genes Dev 22: 1804-1815

Kim HH, Kuwano Y, Srikantan S, Lee EK, Martindale JL, Gorospe M (2009a) HuR recruits let-7/RISC to repress c-Myc expression. Genes Dev 23: 1743-1748

Kim HH, Yang X, Kuwano Y, Gorospe M (2008b) Modification at HuR(S242) alters HuR localization and proliferative influence. Cell Cycle 7: 3371-3377

Kim VN (2005) MicroRNA biogenesis: coordinated cropping and dicing. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 6: 376-385

Kim VN, Han J, Siomi MC (2009b) Biogenesis of small RNAs in animals. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 10: 126-139

Krol J, Sobczak K, Wilczynska U, Drath M, Jasinska A, Kaczynska D, Krzyzosiak WJ (2004) Structural features of microRNA (miRNA) precursors and their relevance to miRNA biogenesis and small interfering RNA/short hairpin RNA design. J Biol Chem 279: 42230-42239

Lafarga V, Cuadrado A, Lopez de Silanes I, Bengoechea R, Fernandez-Capetillo O, Nebreda AR (2009) p38 Mitogen-activated protein kinase- and HuR-dependent stabilization of p21(Cip1) mRNA mediates the G(1)/S checkpoint. Mol Cell Biol 29: 4341-4351

Lagos-Quintana M, Rauhut R, Lendeckel W, Tuschl T (2001) Identification of novel genes coding for small expressed RNAs. Science 294: 853-858

Lal A, Kawai T, Yang X, Mazan-Mamczarz K, Gorospe M (2005) Antiapoptotic function of RNA-binding protein HuR effected through prothymosin alpha. Embo J 24: 1852-1862

Lal A, Mazan-Mamczarz K, Kawai T, Yang X, Martindale JL, Gorospe M (2004) Concurrent versus individual binding of HuR and AUF1 to common labile target mRNAs. Embo J 23: 3092-3102

Landthaler M, Gaidatzis D, Rothballer A, Chen PY, Soll SJ, Dinic L, Ojo T, Hafner M, Zavolan M, Tuschl T (2008) Molecular characterization of human Argonaute-containing ribonucleoprotein complexes and their bound target mRNAs. Rna 14: 2580-2596

Lau NC, Lim LP, Weinstein EG, Bartel DP (2001) An abundant class of tiny RNAs with probable regulatory roles in Caenorhabditis elegans. Science 294: 858-862

Lebedeva S, Jens M, Theil K, Schwanhausser B, Selbach M, Landthaler M, Rajewsky N (2011) Transcriptome-wide Analysis of Regulatory Interactions of the RNA-Binding Protein HuR. Mol Cell 43: 340-352

Lee RC, Ambros V (2001) An extensive class of small RNAs in Caenorhabditis elegans. Science 294: 862-864

Lee RC, Feinbaum RL, Ambros V (1993) The C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. Cell 75: 843-854

Lee Y, Ahn C, Han J, Choi H, Kim J, Yim J, Lee J, Provost P, Radmark O, Kim S, Kim VN (2003) The nuclear RNase III Drosha initiates microRNA processing. Nature 425: 415-419

Lee Y, Kim M, Han J, Yeom KH, Lee S, Baek SH, Kim VN (2004) MicroRNA genes are transcribed by RNA polymerase II. Embo J 23: 4051-4060

Leung AK, Sharp PA (2010) MicroRNA functions in stress responses. Mol Cell 40: 205-215

Levadoux-Martin M, Gouble A, Jegou B, Vallet-Erdtmann V, Auriol J, Mercier P, Morello D (2003) Impaired gametogenesis in mice that overexpress the RNA-binding protein HuR. EMBO Rep 4: 394-399

Levy NS, Chung S, Furneaux H, Levy AP (1998) Hypoxic stabilization of vascular endothelial growth factor mRNA by the RNA-binding protein HuR. J Biol Chem 273: 6417-6423

Li H, Park S, Kilburn B, Jelinek MA, Henschen-Edman A, Aswad DW, Stallcup MR, Laird-Offringa IA (2002) Lipopolysaccharide-induced methylation of HuR, an mRNA-stabilizing protein, by CARM1. Coactivator-associated arginine methyltransferase. J Biol Chem 277: 44623-44630

Lim LP, Lau NC, Garrett-Engele P, Grimson A, Schelter JM, Castle J, Bartel DP, Linsley PS, Johnson JM (2005) Microarray analysis shows that some microRNAs downregulate large numbers of target mRNAs. Nature 433: 769-773

Liu J, Carmell MA, Rivas FV, Marsden CG, Thomson JM, Song JJ, Hammond SM, Joshua-Tor L, Hannon GJ (2004) Argonaute2 is the catalytic engine of mammalian RNAi. Science 305: 1437-1441

Liu J, Rivas FV, Wohlschlegel J, Yates JR, 3rd, Parker R, Hannon GJ (2005a) A role for the P-body component GW182 in microRNA function. Nat Cell Biol 7: 1261-1266

Liu J, Valencia-Sanchez MA, Hannon GJ, Parker R (2005b) MicroRNAdependent localization of targeted mRNAs to mammalian P-bodies. Nat Cell Biol 7: 719-723

Lund E, Guttinger S, Calado A, Dahlberg JE, Kutay U (2004) Nuclear export of microRNA precursors. Science 303: 95-98

Ma WJ, Cheng S, Campbell C, Wright A, Furneaux H (1996) Cloning and characterization of HuR, a ubiquitously expressed Elav-like protein. J Biol Chem 271: 8144-8151

Ma WJ, Chung S, Furneaux H (1997) The Elav-like proteins bind to AU-rich elements and to the poly(A) tail of mRNA. Nucleic Acids Res 25: 3564-3569

Maroney PA, Yu Y, Fisher J, Nilsen TW (2006) Evidence that microRNAs are associated with translating messenger RNAs in human cells. Nat Struct Mol Biol 13: 1102-1107

Martinez J, Patkaniowska A, Urlaub H, Luhrmann R, Tuschl T (2002) Singlestranded antisense siRNAs guide target RNA cleavage in RNAi. Cell 110: 563-574

Martinez J, Tuschl T (2004) RISC is a 5' phosphomonoester-producing RNA endonuclease. Genes Dev 18: 975-980

Mathonnet G, Fabian MR, Svitkin YV, Parsyan A, Huck L, Murata T, Biffo S, Merrick WC, Darzynkiewicz E, Pillai RS, Filipowicz W, Duchaine TF, Sonenberg N (2007) MicroRNA inhibition of translation initiation in vitro by targeting the cap-binding complex eIF4F. Science 317: 1764-1767

Mazan-Mamczarz K, Galban S, Lopez de Silanes I, Martindale JL, Atasoy U, Keene JD, Gorospe M (2003) RNA-binding protein HuR enhances p53 translation in response to ultraviolet light irradiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100: 8354-8359

Mazroui R, Di Marco S, Clair E, von Roretz C, Tenenbaum SA, Keene JD, Saleh M, Gallouzi IE (2008) Caspase-mediated cleavage of HuR in the cytoplasm contributes to pp32/PHAP-I regulation of apoptosis. J Cell Biol 180: 113-127

Meisner NC, Filipowicz W (2011) Properties of the Regulatory RNA-Binding Protein HuR and its Role in Controlling miRNA Repression. Adv Exp Med Biol 700: 106-123

Meisner NC, Hintersteiner M, Seifert JM, Bauer R, Benoit RM, Widmer A, Schindler T, Uhl V, Lang M, Gstach H, Auer M (2009) Terminal adenosyl transferase activity of posttranscriptional regulator HuR revealed by confocal on-bead screening. J Mol Biol 386: 435-450

Meister G, Landthaler M, Patkaniowska A, Dorsett Y, Teng G, Tuschl T (2004) Human Argonaute2 mediates RNA cleavage targeted by miRNAs and siRNAs. Mol Cell 15: 185-197 Ming XF, Stoecklin G, Lu M, Looser R, Moroni C (2001) Parallel and independent regulation of interleukin-3 mRNA turnover by phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase. Mol Cell Biol 21: 5778-5789

Mortensen RD, Serra M, Steitz JA, Vasudevan S (2011) Posttranscriptional activation of gene expression in Xenopus laevis oocytes by microRNA-protein complexes (microRNPs). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108: 8281-8286

Mukherjee N, Corcoran DL, Nusbaum JD, Reid DW, Georgiev S, Hafner M, Ascano M, Jr., Tuschl T, Ohler U, Keene JD (2011) Integrative Regulatory Mapping Indicates that the RNA-Binding Protein HuR Couples Pre-mRNA Processing and mRNA Stability. Mol Cell 43: 327-339

Nelson PT, De Planell-Saguer M, Lamprinaki S, Kiriakidou M, Zhang P, O'Doherty U, Mourelatos Z (2007) A novel monoclonal antibody against human Argonaute proteins reveals unexpected characteristics of miRNAs in human blood cells. Rna 13: 1787-1792

Nolde MJ, Saka N, Reinert KL, Slack FJ (2007) The Caenorhabditis elegans pumilio homolog, puf-9, is required for the 3'UTR-mediated repression of the let-7 microRNA target gene, hbl-1. Dev Biol 305: 551-563

Nottrott S, Simard MJ, Richter JD (2006) Human let-7a miRNA blocks protein production on actively translating polyribosomes. Nat Struct Mol Biol 13: 1108-1114

Nykanen A, Haley B, Zamore PD (2001) ATP requirements and small interfering RNA structure in the RNA interference pathway. Cell 107: 309-321

Okamura K, Liu N, Lai EC (2009) Distinct mechanisms for microRNA strand selection by Drosophila Argonautes. Mol Cell 36: 431-444

Olsen PH, Ambros V (1999) The lin-4 regulatory RNA controls developmental timing in Caenorhabditis elegans by blocking LIN-14 protein synthesis after the initiation of translation. Dev Biol 216: 671-680

Orban TI, Izaurralde E (2005) Decay of mRNAs targeted by RISC requires XRN1, the Ski complex, and the exosome. Rna 11: 459-469

Parker JS, Roe SM, Barford D (2004) Crystal structure of a PIWI protein suggests mechanisms for siRNA recognition and slicer activity. Embo J 23: 4727-4737

Parker JS, Roe SM, Barford D (2005) Structural insights into mRNA recognition from a PIWI domain-siRNA guide complex. Nature 434: 663-666

Parker R, Sheth U (2007) P bodies and the control of mRNA translation and degradation. Mol Cell 25: 635-646

Pascale A, Govoni S (2011) The complex world of post-transcriptional mechanisms: is their deregulation a common link for diseases? Focus on ELAV-like RNA-binding proteins. Cell Mol Life Sci

Pasquinelli AE, Reinhart BJ, Slack F, Martindale MQ, Kuroda MI, Maller B, Hayward DC, Ball EE, Degnan B, Muller P, Spring J, Srinivasan A, Fishman M, Finnerty J, Corbo J, Levine M, Leahy P, Davidson E, Ruvkun G (2000) Conservation of the sequence and temporal expression of let-7 heterochronic regulatory RNA. Nature 408: 86-89

Peng SS, Chen CY, Xu N, Shyu AB (1998) RNA stabilization by the AU-rich element binding protein, HuR, an ELAV protein. Embo J 17: 3461-3470

Petersen CP, Bordeleau ME, Pelletier J, Sharp PA (2006) Short RNAs repress translation after initiation in mammalian cells. Mol Cell 21: 533-542

Pillai RS, Artus CG, Filipowicz W (2004) Tethering of human Ago proteins to mRNA mimics the miRNA-mediated repression of protein synthesis. Rna 10: 1518-1525

Pillai RS, Bhattacharyya SN, Artus CG, Zoller T, Cougot N, Basyuk E, Bertrand E, Filipowicz W (2005) Inhibition of translational initiation by Let-7 MicroRNA in human cells. Science 309: 1573-1576

Pillai RS, Bhattacharyya SN, Filipowicz W (2007) Repression of protein synthesis by miRNAs: how many mechanisms? Trends Cell Biol 17: 118-126

Rebane A, Aab A, Steitz JA (2004) Transportins 1 and 2 are redundant nuclear import factors for hnRNP A1 and HuR. Rna 10: 590-599

Reinhart BJ, Slack FJ, Basson M, Pasquinelli AE, Bettinger JC, Rougvie AE, Horvitz HR, Ruvkun G (2000) The 21-nucleotide let-7 RNA regulates developmental timing in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature 403: 901-906 Rivas FV, Tolia NH, Song JJ, Aragon JP, Liu J, Hannon GJ, Joshua-Tor L (2005) Purified Argonaute2 and an siRNA form recombinant human RISC. Nat Struct Mol Biol 12: 340-349

Robinow S, Campos AR, Yao KM, White K (1988) The elav gene product of Drosophila, required in neurons, has three RNP consensus motifs. Science 242: 1570-1572

Rodriguez A, Griffiths-Jones S, Ashurst JL, Bradley A (2004) Identification of mammalian microRNA host genes and transcription units. Genome Res 14: 1902-1910

Sakai K, Kitagawa Y, Hirose G (1999) Analysis of the RNA recognition motifs of human neuronal ELAV-like proteins in binding to a cytokine mRNA. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 256: 263-268

Schratt G (2009) microRNAs at the synapse. Nat Rev Neurosci 10: 842-849

Schratt GM, Tuebing F, Nigh EA, Kane CG, Sabatini ME, Kiebler M, Greenberg ME (2006) A brain-specific microRNA regulates dendritic spine development. Nature 439: 283-289

Schwarz DS, Hutvagner G, Du T, Xu Z, Aronin N, Zamore PD (2003) Asymmetry in the assembly of the RNAi enzyme complex. Cell 115: 199-208

Schwarz DS, Hutvagner G, Haley B, Zamore PD (2002) Evidence that siRNAs function as guides, not primers, in the Drosophila and human RNAi pathways. Mol Cell 10: 537-548

Schwarz DS, Tomari Y, Zamore PD (2004) The RNA-induced silencing complex is a Mg2+-dependent endonuclease. Curr Biol 14: 787-791

Seggerson K, Tang L, Moss EG (2002) Two genetic circuits repress the Caenorhabditis elegans heterochronic gene lin-28 after translation initiation. Dev Biol 243: 215-225

Sen GL, Blau HM (2005) Argonaute 2/RISC resides in sites of mammalian mRNA decay known as cytoplasmic bodies. Nat Cell Biol 7: 633-636

Siegel G, Obernosterer G, Fiore R, Oehmen M, Bicker S, Christensen M, Khudayberdiev S, Leuschner PF, Busch CJ, Kane C, Hubel K, Dekker F, Hedberg C, Rengarajan B, Drepper C, Waldmann H, Kauppinen S, Greenberg

ME, Draguhn A, Rehmsmeier M, Martinez J, Schratt GM (2009) A functional screen implicates microRNA-138-dependent regulation of the depalmitoylation enzyme APT1 in dendritic spine morphogenesis. Nat Cell Biol 11: 705-716

Soller M, White K (2005) ELAV multimerizes on conserved AU4-6 motifs important for ewg splicing regulation. Mol Cell Biol 25: 7580-7591

Song JJ, Smith SK, Hannon GJ, Joshua-Tor L (2004) Crystal structure of Argonaute and its implications for RISC slicer activity. Science 305: 1434-1437

Srikantan S, Abdelmohsen K, Lee EK, Tominaga K, Subaran SS, Kuwano Y, Kulshrestha R, Panchakshari R, Kim HH, Yang X, Martindale JL, Marasa BS, Kim MM, Wersto RP, Indig FE, Chowdhury D, Gorospe M (2011) Translational Control of TOP2A Influences Doxorubicin Efficacy. Mol Cell Biol 31: 3790-3801

Tabara H, Sarkissian M, Kelly WG, Fleenor J, Grishok A, Timmons L, Fire A, Mello CC (1999) The rde-1 gene, RNA interference, and transposon silencing in C. elegans. Cell 99: 123-132

Teixeira D, Sheth U, Valencia-Sanchez MA, Brengues M, Parker R (2005) Processing bodies require RNA for assembly and contain nontranslating mRNAs. Rna 11: 371-382

Thermann R, Hentze MW (2007) Drosophila miR2 induces pseudo-polysomes and inhibits translation initiation. Nature 447: 875-878

Toba G, White K (2008) The third RNA recognition motif of Drosophila ELAV protein has a role in multimerization. Nucleic Acids Res 36: 1390-1399

Tran H, Maurer F, Nagamine Y (2003) Stabilization of urokinase and urokinase receptor mRNAs by HuR is linked to its cytoplasmic accumulation induced by activated mitogen-activated protein kinase-activated protein kinase 2. Mol Cell Biol 23: 7177-7188

Tuschl T, Zamore PD, Lehmann R, Bartel DP, Sharp PA (1999) Targeted mRNA degradation by double-stranded RNA in vitro. Genes Dev 13: 3191-3197

Uren PJ, Burns SC, Ruan J, Singh KK, Smith AD, Penalva LO (2011) Genomic analyses of the RNA binding protein Hu Antigen R (HuR) identify a complex network of target genes and novel characteristics of its binding sites. J Biol Chem

van der Giessen K, Gallouzi IE (2007) Involvement of transportin 2-mediated HuR import in muscle cell differentiation. Mol Biol Cell 18: 2619-2629

van Dijk E, Cougot N, Meyer S, Babajko S, Wahle E, Seraphin B (2002) Human Dcp2: a catalytically active mRNA decapping enzyme located in specific cytoplasmic structures. Embo J 21: 6915-6924

Vasudevan S, Tong Y, Steitz JA (2007) Switching from repression to activation: microRNAs can up-regulate translation. Science 318: 1931-1934

Vasudevan S, Tong Y, Steitz JA (2008) Cell-cycle control of microRNAmediated translation regulation. Cell Cycle 7: 1545-1549

von Roretz C, Macri AM, Gallouzi IE (2011) Transportin 2 Regulates Apoptosis through the RNA-binding Protein HuR. J Biol Chem 286: 25983-25991

Wakiyama M, Takimoto K, Ohara O, Yokoyama S (2007) Let-7 microRNAmediated mRNA deadenylation and translational repression in a mammalian cell-free system. Genes Dev 21: 1857-1862

Wang B, Love TM, Call ME, Doench JG, Novina CD (2006) Recapitulation of short RNA-directed translational gene silencing in vitro. Mol Cell 22: 553-560

Wang W, Caldwell MC, Lin S, Furneaux H, Gorospe M (2000a) HuR regulates cyclin A and cyclin B1 mRNA stability during cell proliferation. Embo J 19: 2340-2350

Wang W, Furneaux H, Cheng H, Caldwell MC, Hutter D, Liu Y, Holbrook N, Gorospe M (2000b) HuR regulates p21 mRNA stabilization by UV light. Mol Cell Biol 20: 760-769

Wang W, Yang X, Kawai T, Lopez de Silanes I, Mazan-Mamczarz K, Chen P, Chook YM, Quensel C, Kohler M, Gorospe M (2004) AMP-activated protein kinase-regulated phosphorylation and acetylation of importin alpha1: involvement in the nuclear import of RNA-binding protein HuR. J Biol Chem 279: 48376-48388 Wang Y, Juranek S, Li H, Sheng G, Tuschl T, Patel DJ (2008a) Structure of an argonaute silencing complex with a seed-containing guide DNA and target RNA duplex. Nature 456: 921-926

Wang Y, Juranek S, Li H, Sheng G, Wardle GS, Tuschl T, Patel DJ (2009) Nucleation, propagation and cleavage of target RNAs in Ago silencing complexes. Nature 461: 754-761

Wang Y, Sheng G, Juranek S, Tuschl T, Patel DJ (2008b) Structure of the guide-strand-containing argonaute silencing complex. Nature 456: 209-213

Westmark CJ, Bartleson VB, Malter JS (2005) RhoB mRNA is stabilized by HuR after UV light. Oncogene 24: 502-511

Wightman B, Ha I, Ruvkun G (1993) Posttranscriptional regulation of the heterochronic gene lin-14 by lin-4 mediates temporal pattern formation in C. elegans. Cell 75: 855-862

Wu L, Fan J, Belasco JG (2006) MicroRNAs direct rapid deadenylation of mRNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103: 4034-4039

Yaman I, Fernandez J, Sarkar B, Schneider RJ, Snider MD, Nagy LE, Hatzoglou M (2002) Nutritional control of mRNA stability is mediated by a conserved AU-rich element that binds the cytoplasmic shuttling protein HuR. J Biol Chem 277: 41539-41546

Yang JS, Maurin T, Robine N, Rasmussen KD, Jeffrey KL, Chandwani R, Papapetrou EP, Sadelain M, O'Carroll D, Lai EC (2010) Conserved vertebrate mir-451 provides a platform for Dicer-independent, Ago2-mediated microRNA biogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107: 15163-15168

Yekta S, Shih IH, Bartel DP (2004) MicroRNA-directed cleavage of HOXB8 mRNA. Science 304: 594-596

Yi R, Qin Y, Macara IG, Cullen BR (2003) Exportin-5 mediates the nuclear export of pre-microRNAs and short hairpin RNAs. Genes Dev 17: 3011-3016

Yuan YR, Pei Y, Ma JB, Kuryavyi V, Zhadina M, Meister G, Chen HY, Dauter Z, Tuschl T, Patel DJ (2005) Crystal structure of A. aeolicus argonaute, a site-specific DNA-guided endoribonuclease, provides insights into RISC-mediated mRNA cleavage. Mol Cell 19: 405-419

Zamore PD, Tuschl T, Sharp PA, Bartel DP (2000) RNAi: double-stranded RNA directs the ATP-dependent cleavage of mRNA at 21 to 23 nucleotide intervals. Cell 101: 25-33

Zdanowicz A, Thermann R, Kowalska J, Jemielity J, Duncan K, Preiss T, Darzynkiewicz E, Hentze MW (2009) Drosophila miR2 primarily targets the m7GpppN cap structure for translational repression. Mol Cell 35: 881-888

Zeng Y, Yi R, Cullen BR (2003) MicroRNAs and small interfering RNAs can inhibit mRNA expression by similar mechanisms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100: 9779-9784

Zhang T, Kruys V, Huez G, Gueydan C (2002) AU-rich element-mediated translational control: complexity and multiple activities of trans-activating factors. Biochem Soc Trans 30: 952-958

Zipprich JT, Bhattacharyya S, Mathys H, Filipowicz W (2009) Importance of the C-terminal domain of the human GW182 protein TNRC6C for translational repression. Rna 15: 781-793

Zou T, Mazan-Mamczarz K, Rao JN, Liu L, Marasa BS, Zhang AH, Xiao L, Pullmann R, Gorospe M, Wang JY (2006) Polyamine depletion increases cytoplasmic levels of RNA-binding protein HuR leading to stabilization of nucleophosmin and p53 mRNAs. J Biol Chem 281: 19387-19394

CURRICULUM VITAE

Pradipta Kundu

PERSONAL INFORMATION

- DATE OF BIRTH14th JUNE, 1982CURRENT ADDRESSSTELLIMATTWEG 17
4125 RIEHEN
SWITZERLANDTELEPHONE+41 61 641 4074E-MAILPradipta.Kundu@fmi.ch; kundup14@yahoo.com
- PERMANENT ADDRESS 197/17, RASTRA GURU AVENUE DUM DUM KOLKATA—700028 WEST BENGAL INDIA

NATIONALITY INDIAN

STATUS FEMALE – MARRIED

EDUCATION

PhD Studies at the laboratory of Prof. Witold Filipowicz, Friedrich Miescher Institute under the University of Basel, Switzerland
Training (Praktikantin) at the Filipowicz lab, FMI, Basel, Switzerland
Obtained Master of Science degree in Biotechnology, ranked 1 st , University of Calcutta, India
Obtained Bachelor of Science degree in Physiology (Honours) and Zoology and Chemistry (general) with distinction, Presidency College, University of Calcutta, India
Qualified Higher Secondary School Examination, ranked 19 th in the board, Kolkata, India
Qualified Secondary School Examination with first division, Kolkata, India

SCHOLARSHIPS AND FELLOWSHIPS

Awarded an RNA Society Travel Grant to attend the conference "The Complex Life of mRNA: From Synthesis to Decay" held at EMBL, Heidelberg, Germany on 18 - 20 March 2010.

Awarded Lt. Col. A. N. Bose Scholarship (Foreign Scholarships/Fellowships) from University of Calcutta for travelling to Switzerland.

Qualified NET (National Eligibility Test) for award of Research Fellowship in subject Life Sciences under the CSIR (Council of Scientific and Industrial Research) fellowship scheme by Government of India.

Awarded National Scholarship for performance in both Secondary and Higher Secondary School Examination.

EXPERIENCE

Jul-Sep 2006

Worked under the guidance of Prof. D. J. Chattopadhyay at the University of Calcutta in a project "Role of Leader RNA of Chandipura Virus on the Activity of Casein Kinase II During Transcription-Replication Switch".

Jun-Jul 2005

Worked under the guidance of Prof. Tapas Kundu at Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research, Bangalore in the project entitled "Characterisation of Expression pattern of human Positive Cofactor 4 (PC4) in brain tissues and U87MG (Glioblastoma) cell line".

Nov 2003

Actively participated in the field tour, conducted by the department of Physiology, Presidency College at Tamia and Toula, villages near Panchmari, Madhya Pradesh, India, covering following areas:

- 1. Studies on anthropometric measurements of the inhabitants.
- 2. Studies on haematological & cardiovascular parameters of the people.
- 3. Studies on social and nutritional status of the villagers.

PRESENTATIONS and PUBLICATIONS

FMI annual meetings, 2007-2011 (posters)

EMBO Conference Series on Protein Synthesis and Translational Control 07 - 11 September 2011, EMBL, Heidelberg, Germany (poster)

Conference on The Complex Life of mRNA: From Synthesis to Decay 18 - 20 March 2010, EMBL, Heidelberg, Germany (poster)

A manuscript describing the work of PhD thesis is submitted to Nucleic Acids Research.